*Biol. Rev.* (2018), **93**, pp. 1228–1250. doi: 10.1111/brv.12393 1228

# Evolution and development of scyphozoan jellyfish

### Rebecca R. Helm\*

Woods Hole Oceanographic Institution - Biology, Mailstop 33, 45 Water Street, Woods Hole, MA 01543, U.S.A.

#### ABSTRACT

Scyphozoan jellyfish, or scyphomedusae, are conspicuous members of many ocean ecosystems, and have large impacts on human health and industry. Most scyphomedusae are the final stage in a complex life cycle that also includes two intermediate stages: the larval planula and benthic polyp. In species with all three life-cycle stages, the metamorphosis of a polyp into a juvenile scyphomedusa (ephyra) is termed strobilation, and polyps can produce one ephyra (termed monodisc strobilation) or many ephyrae (termed polydisc strobilation). In contrast to species with planula, polyp and medusa stages, a handful of scyphozoan species possess modified life cycles with reduced or absent stages. The evolutionary patterns associated with strobilation and life-cycle type have not been thoroughly investigated, and many studies of ephyra development and strobilation induction are not yet synthesized. Herein, I place the development of scyphomedusae in an evolutionary context. I first review the current evolutionary hypotheses for Scyphozoa. Next, I review what is known about scyphomedusa development across a broad diversity of species, including the first signs of strobilation, the formation of strobila segments, and the morphogenesis of ephyrae. I then review cases where the canonical scyphozoan life cycle has been modified, and take advantage of phylogenetic hypotheses to place these observations in an evolutionary context. I show that the evolution of monodisc strobilation occurred at least twice, and that the loss of intermediate life-cycle stages occurred several times independently; by contrast, the reduction of the medusa stage appears to have occurred within a single clade. I then briefly review the major natural cues of strobilation induction. Finally, I summarize what is currently known about the molecular mechanisms of strobilation induction and ephyra development. I conclude with suggestions for future directions in the field.

Key words: Scyphozoa, Cnidaria, life cycle, metamorphosis, development, strobilation, complex life cycles, life cycle evolution, Medusozoa, jellyfish.

#### CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	1229
	(1) The potential impacts of scyphozoan life cycles	1229
II.	Evolutionary relationships within Scyphozoa	1229
III.	Anatomy of strobilation and medusa morphogenesis	1230
	(1) Early signs of strobilation	1230
	(2) Segmentation formation	1231
	(3) General anatomy and development	1232
	(a) Rhopalia	1232
	(b) Nervous system and muscles	1233
	(c) Gastrovascular system	1234
	(4) Metamorphosis of the topmost segment	1234
	(5) Metamorphosis of lower segments	1235
IV.	Phylogenetic variation in strobilation type	1236
V.	Life-cycle variation and other forms of medusa development	1237
VI.	Ecological cues and strobilation	1241
VII.	Molecular mechanisms of strobilation	1242
VIII.	Future directions	1245
IX.	Conclusions	1247
Χ.	Acknowledgments	1247
XL	References	1947

\* Address for correspondence (Tel: +928 699 0213); E-mail: rrhelm@gmail.com.

The copyright line for this article was changed on 02 March 2018 after original online publication.

Biological Reviews 93 (2018) 1228–1250 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Scyphozoans (Cnidaria) are abundant and important members of many ocean habitats, and their most obvious ecological impact is related to the final life-cycle stage: the jellyfish. This jellyfish stage, termed a 'scyphomedusa' or 'medusa', is the most recognizable scyphozoan form, but it is far from the only one. Scyphozoan life cycles are among the most complex of any non-parasitic animal, with different life-cycle stages inhabiting different ecosystems and varying in size by orders of magnitude. These complex life cycles provide a unique opportunity to study life-cycle evolution, the role of development in the evolution of novel life histories, and the dynamics between development and the environment.

In most scyphozoans, the life cycle is broken into three stages. Scyphomedusae produce either eggs or sperm (rarely both; Morandini & Marques, 2010), which fuse and develop into ciliated larvae, termed 'planulae'. In most species, a planula settles to the benthos and metamorphoses into the sessile life-cycle stage, known as a 'scyphistoma', 'scyphopolyp', or most commonly just 'polyp'. Polyps resemble tiny sea anemones, and although polyps can be incredibly abundant, their ecological importance is only now becoming apparent (Lucas, Graham & Widmer, 2012). This is particularly true because, for most scyphozoans, it is the polyp stage that gives rise to the juvenile medusa, termed an 'ephyra', through a metamorphic process termed 'strobilation'. While polyps may go largely unnoticed, scyphomedusae have gained considerable attention in recent years due to their impact on people and ecosystems (Mills, 2001; Kawahara et al., 2006; Lynam et al., 2006; Purcell, Uye & Lo, 2007; Uye, 2008; Doyle et al., 2013). However, much of the literature on medusa development and the mechanisms of strobilation is scattered and disconnected.

In this review, I synthesize information on medusa formation, life-cycle evolution, and the molecular mechanisms underlying medusa production in Scyphozoa.

#### (1) The potential impacts of scyphozoan life cycles

Scyphomedusae are recognizable animals that can have major impacts on ecology, economics, and human health. They play important roles as both predators and prey in many marine ecosystems (Doyle et al., 2013). Scyphomedusae are preyed upon by a wide variety of animals, including the leatherback turtle Dermochelys coriacea (den Hartog & van Nierop, 1984) and the sunfish Mola mola (Pope et al., 2010), as well as commercially important fish species, such as the Mediterranean Boops boops (Milisenda et al., 2014). Scyphomedusae can have major impacts on human health and industry, particularly when they form mass aggregations or 'blooms'. Scyphomedusae can replace fish as top pelagic predators in overfished ecosystems (Lynam et al., 2006), cause painful stings, and clog power-plant intakes (Mills, 2001; Purcell et al., 2007). In a particularly extreme example, on December 10th, 1999, half of the Philippines lost power due to scyphomedusae caught in a power-plant cooling system (Mills, 2001).

Particular life-cycle features, such as strobilation type, are correlated with the potential to form blooms, and these life-cycle features are associated with different lineages of the scyphozoan phylogeny (Dawson & Hamner, 2009). Thus, understanding scyphozoan phylogenetic relationships, and what developmental features are associated with particular clades, is important to understanding many aspects of scyphozoan biology and ecology.

## II. EVOLUTIONARY RELATIONSHIPS WITHIN SCYPHOZOA

The phylum Cnidaria contains two major clades: Anthozoa, which includes corals and sea anemones, and Medusozoa, which contains all medusa-forming species (Collins, 2002; although see Kayal et al., 2013). Within Medusozoa, the monophyly of Scyphozoa has been recovered using morphological characters (Thiel, 1966; Marques & Collins, 2004), genes (Collins, 2002; Collins et al., 2006), and transcriptomes (Zapata et al., 2015), although there are exceptions (e.g. Werner, 1973; Kayal et al., 2013). Medusozoa also contains the monophyletic groups Cubozoa (box jellies), Staurozoa (stalked jellies), and Hydrozoa (water jellies). The placement of these major non-scyphozoan groups is not well resolved (review in Collins et al., 2006). Phylogenomic hypotheses suggest that Hydrozoa is the likely sister group to a clade containing Scyphozoa, Staurozoa and Cubozoa (Zapata et al., 2015), but the relationships among the latter three groups are still unclear.

Within Scyphozoa, traditional Linnaean designations have been both challenged and supported in recent years using molecular phylogenetic methods. Traditionally, there are two major groups of scyphozoans: Coronatae and Discomedusae (Fig. 1); these two groups are well supported by current molecular phylogenies based on 18S and 28S rDNA (Collins *et al.*, 2006) and transcriptomic studies (Zapata *et al.*, 2015). Kayal *et al.* (2013) did not recover this topology using mitochondrial genomes, although the authors note that their results were not statistically well supported.

Coronate polyps live in firm, chitinous tubes (Jarms, Morandini & Da Silveira, 2002) (Fig. 2A), and coronate medusae have deep grooves along the bell margin, which separate thick ridges or 'pedalia' on the bell (Mayer, 1910; Marques & Collins, 2004). Each pedalium may or may not bear a single tentacle (Hyman, 1940). Coronate medusae can also be distinguished from other medusae by their non-pigmented oocytes (Marques & Collins, 2004; Daly *et al.*, 2007), simple mouth supported by a stalk (known as a 'manubrium'), and in many species by forward-facing tentacles.

In Discomedusae, polyps either lack a chitinous tube or possess a partial chitinous covering on the aboral stalk, into which the polyp cannot retract (Fig. 2B, C). Some polyps form cystic resting stages called 'podocysts' (Marques & Collins, 2004; Arai, 2009). Discomedusoid medusae have elaborate oral arms, a gastric system with canals (Marques & Collins, 2004), bells without grooves and pedalia (although



Fig. 1. Phylogenetic hypothesis of scyphozoan relationships based on Bayha *et al.* (2010). Scyphozoa is composed of two major clades, the Coronatae (green) and the Discomedusae (gold). Coronatae contains the paraphyletic genus *Nausithoe*, the clade containing *Atolla*, *Periphylla* and *Paraphyllina*, and a clade containing *Linuche* and *Stephanoscyphus*. Within the Discomedusae there are at least three major lineages: (1) Pelagiidae including all known *Chrysaora*, *Pelagia*, and *Sanderia*; (2) Cyaneidae including the genera *Cyanea* and *Desmonema*; and (3) a currently unnamed clade composed of several major groups: Drymonematidae, Ulmaridae and the Rhizostomeae clades 1 and 2 (the latter containing the monophyletic group Kolpophorae).

the bells are sometimes ornately textured), and in species with marginal tentacles, the tentacles trail gently behind the animal.

There are two Linnaean orders within Discomedusae, the Rhizostomeae and Semaeostomeae (Daly *et al.*, 2007), which are supported by cladistic analysis (Marques & Collins, 2004), but not by multiple studies using molecular data, from which it appears that Semaeostomeae is paraphyletic with Rhizostomeae (Collins, 2002; Bayha *et al.*, 2010) (Fig. 1). The semaeostomid Pelagiidae species form a monophyletic group, but the Ulmaridae (including moon jellies) form a clade with 'true Rhizostomeae' (Bayha *et al.*, 2010), rather than being affiliated with Pelagiidae. Fig. 1 presents the evolutionary relationships within Scyphozoa outlined by Bayha *et al.* (2010). This phylogeny (using 18S and 28S rDNA) is the most complete phylogeny of Scyphozoa to date, with full taxon sampling at the family level. Evolutionary hypotheses generated using molecular data provide us with an opportunity to map developmental and life-history characters onto a phylogenetic framework. We can thus begin to retrace the evolutionary history of key features in scyphozoan life cycles.

## III. ANATOMY OF STROBILATION AND MEDUSA MORPHOGENESIS

Historically, each life-cycle stage was described as separate species (reviewed in Russell, 1970). It is from these original descriptions that we derive the terms for each stage: 'scyphistoma', 'strobila', and 'ephyra'. The polyp and strobila stages were first described by Sars (1829) and given the species names *Scyphistoma filicome* and *Strobila octoradiata*, respectively. Eschscholtz (1829) described a small star-like medusa, for which he created the genus *Ephyra*. It was not until the process of strobilation was first documented by Sars (1835) that the scyphistoma, strobila, and ephyra were brought together into a single life cycle.

Sars' original description of a strobila was that of a polydisc strobilator. Polydisc strobilators produce many ephyrae per polyp, resembling their namesake 'strobilus' – the reproductive 'pinecone' of a fir tree. However, this is one of two possible forms of strobilation. Some species are monodisc strobilators – forming only one ephyra during strobilation (Fig. 3). Monodisc strobilation can be thought of, in some respects, as polydisc strobilation with only the topmost ephyra being produced. Regardless of the number of ephyrae produced per strobilation event, the earliest signs of strobilation appear evolutionarily conserved.

#### (1) Early signs of strobilation

In the monodisc strobilator Cassiopea xamachana, Bigelow (1892) reported one of the earliest visible signs of strobilation to be conical lobe outgrowths at the base of polyp tentacles. I have also observed this in the monodisc strobilators Mastigias papua, Cephea sp. and Cotylorhiza tuberculata. In the polydisc strobilator Aurelia aurita from Norfolk, VA, USA, 24 h after strobilation induction, Spangenberg (1991) observed that the base of interradial and perradial polyp tentacles broadened, and this continued for up to 48 h at 28°C. Calder (1982) observed this thickening 6 h prior to formation of the first strobilation segment in Stomolophus meleagris. In all cases these broadening tentacles are at the site of future rhopalia (sensory organ) development (See Section III.3a). Collectively, all these species are in the clade containing Ulmaridae + Rhizostomeae, so this may represent a synapomorphy for this clade, or possibly for Discomedusae or Scyphozoa, although additional species from the Pelagiidae, Cyaneidae, and Coronatae will need to be examined.

For the Pelagiidae species *Chrysaora chesapeakei* (formerly know as *Chrysaora quinquecirrha* (Bayha, Collins & Gaffney, 2017)), the first evidence of polydisc strobilation is reportedly elongation of the body column directly below the polyp



**Fig. 2.** General polyp anatomies for different scyphozoans. All scyphozoan polyps have columnar bodies that attach to a hard substrate at the aboral surface. The oral surface is composed of a ring of tentacles surrounding a central mouth, collectively known as the 'oral disc'. All polyps have cord muscles, which they use in retraction. (A) *Linuche* sp. coronate polyps live within chitinous tubes, into which they contract when startled. (B, C) Discomedusae polyps can be found in one of two general morphologies: (B) a polyp without a tube (*Chrysaora chesapeakei*); or (C) a polyp with a small tube encasing all or part of the aboral stalk (*Mastigias papua*). Scale bars: 1 mm.



**Fig. 3.** Variation in scyphozoan strobilation. (A) *Aurelia* sp. polydisc strobilation occurs when one polyp produces many ephyrae in succession (see Fig. 4). (B) *Phyllorhiza punctata*. Monodisc strobilation occurs when only one ephyra is produced per polyp. (C) In the coronate *Linuche* sp. polyps can produce planuloids *via* strobilation (pictured), or ephyrae (not shown). (D, E) Some scyphopolyps can produce further polyps *via* strobilation, as exhibited by this unidentified discomedusan polyp. Scale bars: 1 mm.

tentacle ring; this transient morphological feature, termed the 'neck', forms during the 'neck-formation stage' (Loeb, 1974a). According to Russell (1970), this elongation is due to cell flattening rather than cell proliferation. Chapman (1966) also reported lengthening in *Aurelia* sp. polyps, although Spangenberg (1968) found no evidence of lengthening in a different *Aurelia* line. Slight elongation has also been observed in *S. meleagris* (Calder, 1982). This neck will ultimately become the first tissue fold in polydisc strobilation (see Section III.2). These observations are from two of the three major lineages in Discomedusae (see Fig. 1; Pelagiidae, and Rhizostomae + Ulmaridae), suggesting that polyp neck formation may be a conserved feature of Discomedusae.

#### (2) Segmentation formation

The most unambiguous sign of strobilation initiation is the formation of a strobilation furrow directly under the polyp tentacle whorl (Fig. 4A); this is the beginning of the segmentation phase of polydisc strobilation, and segregation of future ephyra tissue in monodisc strobilation. This furrow seperates the topmost part of the polyp calyx and oral disc (which are destined to become the topmost, or 'terminal' ephyra) from the main body column. In polydisc strobilation, once the segmentation process has begun, additional furrows are added at equal distances underneath the first furrow (Fig. 4B, C), or roughly 0.18 mm apart in the moon jelly *A. aurita* (Kroiher, Siefker & Berking, 2000). According to



**Fig. 4.** The process of segmentation and ephyra formation in a Discomedusae polydisc strobilator. (A) One of the first signs of strobilation is a furrow or constriction that forms directly under the polyp tentacles. (B, C) Additional furrows form sequentially along the polyp body, equidistant apart. (C) As strobilation progresses, ephyra rudiments develop sensory and muscle structures, eventually begin pulsing, and ultimately break free of the strobila. The processes of strobilation ends when polyp tentacles reform at the base of the strobila. All ephyrae will eventually detach, leaving a small polyp behind.

Berrill (1949), these grooves undergo cellular proliferation and heightening in both the epidermis and gastrodermis, and the discs of tissue between each furrow are subject to cell proliferation in the ecto- and endoderm (Russell, 1970). The extracellular matrix between the ecto- and endoderm, known as 'mesoglea', is thin in ephyrae discs, with fibres randomly oriented, while in the constrictions it is thicker and fibres are branched (Bynum & Black, 1974). In A. aurita, ephyra disc size appears unrelated to polyp size, and polyps of different sizes often produce similar-sized ephyrae, although the number of segments is generally much greater in larger polyps than in smaller polyps (Kroiher et al., 2000). In the monodisc strobilator Ca. xamachana, a furrow forms at the base of the future ephyra (Bigelow, 1892), and I have also observed this furrow in Co. tuberculata. Whether after the formation of one ephyra or many, segmentation and furrow formation eventually cease, and the unsegmented base of the polyp regrows tentacles and a mouth. This newly regenerated polyp can eat, grow, and even strobilate again in the future.

Segmentation is an integral part of strobilation. In most cases, each segment becomes a developing ephyra, termed 'ephyra rudiment'. However, the process of segmentation precedes ephyra formation, and some authors consider segmentation and ephyra development to be two distinct (although interrelated) developmental events (Berrill, 1949; see review in Spangenberg, 1968). This is supported by the fact that segments do not always become ephyrae. For example, *Aurelia* sp. (and *Ch. chesapeakei*, personal observations) strobilae exposed to stress can become 'polyp-strobilae', where each segment develops into a polyp (see review in Spangenberg, 1968) (Fig. 3D, E). Strobilae can also produce planula-like 'planuloids,' in addition to or instead of ephyrae (Fig. 3C). Variation in the plasticity of segmentation, and the ability of strobilae to form polyps, planuloids, or ephyrae, is not well understood. Although these non-canonical strobilae may harbour clues to understanding the developmental processes associated with strobilation, they are also somewhat rare, with most strobilae producing ephyrae.

#### (3) General anatomy and development

Once segments are fated to become ephyrae, the development of ephyral features depends on the location of the segment. In monodisc strobilators and in the topmost ephyra of polydisc strobilators, the ephyra forms from the upper calyx and oral disc of the polyp, while the remaining segments in polydisc strobilators form from tissue segments in the calyx. For polydisc strobilators, this results in developmental differences between the topmost and lower segments. For example, the topmost ephyrae forms a mouth at the same location as the polyp mouth, while lower segments must form mouths *de novo*. Below I outline the general development of ephyrae, followed by sections on the differences in ephyral development for upper and lower discs (see Sections III.4 & 5).

#### (a) Rhopalia

Rhopalia are finger-shaped sensory structures at the bell margin of ephyrae and medusae. Although rhopalia share the same general shape and location across Scyphozoa, the morphology of mature rhopalia is variable (Arai, 1997). For example, the rhopalia of many species bear rudimentary pigment spots that may serve as light sensors, but in *Paraphyllina intermedia*, rhopalia have lenses similar to those found in box jellyfish, and may be used for sophisticated vision. Because rhopalia are variable in their morphology across species, the development of rhopalia is also variable. However, rhopalum development is only known from a few species, of which the best studied is *Aurelia* sp. (Hyman, 1940; Arai, 1997; Nakanishi & Hartenstein, 2009).

In order to understand rhopalial development in *Aurelia* sp., it is first necessary to understand the anatomy of rhopalia in adult medusae of this species. The rhopalium can be thought of as a finger-like projection. The inside, or palm side, of this finger faces down, in the direction of the oral surface, while the topside of the finger faces up, towards the aboral surface. Schafer (1878) described three segments in *A. aurita* rhopalia, demarcated by small creases, which are analogous to the three segments of a

finger: a 'terminal segment' analogous to the finger-tip; an intermediate segment, analogous to the mid-segment of the finger; and a basal segment, analogous to the finger segment closest to the hand. On the tip there is a cluster of large, crystal (statolith)-containing endodermal cells, termed 'lithocytes', which together form the 'statocyst', a large mass of heavy crystal-bearing cells. The weight of this statocyst bends the finger-like rhopalium in response to gravity. On the top (aboral) side of the rhopalium and proximal to the statocyst, bridging the terminal segment and intermediate segment (like a knuckle), there is an epidermal pigmented spot, termed the 'pigment-spot ocellus', which is likely sensory; it is not clear if it is light sensory, chemosensory, or some combination thereof (Nakanishi & Hartenstein, 2009). Proximal to the pigment-spot ocellus in the intermediate segment, there is a thickened plate of ciliated epidermal cells, termed the 'touch plate', which may be involved in sensing tilt (Chapman & James, 1973). Proximal to the touch plate the bell and rhopalium meet. Moving to the oral side of the rhopalium, or the palm side of our finger analogy, proximal to the statocyst and between the terminal and intermediate segments, there is a cluster of endodermal pigmented cells overlaid by ectodermal photoreceptor cells, which together form the 'pigment-cup ocellus', situated opposite the pigment-spot ocellus (in a similar fashion to a joint crease sited opposite the knuckle). The pigment-cup ocellus may be involved in light sensing (Terufumi & Yoshida, 1973). Combined, these four structures – the statocyst, pigment-spot ocellus, touch plate, and pigment-cup ocellus – comprise the major sensory components of the rhopalium.

Each segment and sensory structure within the rhopalium has its own population of neurons, each with unique features (Nakanishi & Hartenstein, 2009). At least two populations of neurons connect the rhopalium to the main medusa body: (1) neurons that can be stained using an anti-tyrosinated tubulin antibody, whose neurites leave the rhopalium and join the large motor neuron network (see Section III.3*b*), and (2) neurons that can be stained by anti-FMRFamide, whose neurites leave the rhopalium and join the diffuse nerve net (see Section III.3*b*) (Nakanishi & Hartenstein, 2009). Nakanishi & Hartenstein (2009) identified at least seven sensory cell groups with neuronal processes.

Above the rhopalium on the aboral surface (equivalent to the top of the hand), there is a tissue projection, termed a 'hood'. When the animal swims oral-side up, the statocyst bends the rhopalium down and a presumably mechanosensitive, ciliated surface of the touch plate comes into contact with the hood. This represents one mechanism by which scyphomedusae may sense direction. Schafer (1878) also described two sensory pits proximal to the rhopalium, one on the aboral surface (termed the 'fovea nervosa superior') and one on the oral surface hood (termed the 'fovea nervosa inferior'), although their exact function is not known.

Ultimately sensory information from the rhopalia is transmitted to the nervous system. Combined, the rhopalia and nervous system coordinate the behaviour and responses to the environment in ephyrae and medusae.

#### (b) Nervous system and muscles

The polyp, strobila, and ephyra nervous systems are temporally linked. For this reason, understanding the origin of the ephyra nervous system can only be done in the context of polyp and strobila nervous systems. The polyp nervous system of A. aurita is reported to be exclusively ectodermal (Chia, Amerongen & Peteya, 1984). Two types of neurons have been identified - epithelial sensory cells in the tentacles, and sub-epithelial neurons in the tentacles, oral disc, and muscle cord. Anti-FMRFamide-positive neurons are present in the polyp oral disc and tentacles (Nakanishi et al., 2008). However, neurons have not been found in regions of the body where muscle is absent (Chia et al., 1984). Portions of the body column that do not contain muscle do not respond to mechanical stimulation in A. aurita (Chia et al., 1984) or Ch. chesapeakei (Loeb & Hayes, 1981). In A. aurita from Woods Hole, MA, USA, electrical potentials were also not detected in the body column (Schwab, 1977a). Chrysaora chesapeakei is within the clade Pelagiidae, while A. aurita is within the Rhizostomeae + Ulmaridae clade. Thus, innervation of polyp musculature but not the surrounding body column may be a shared feature of discomedusan polyps.

Polyp neurons may be involved in strobilation induction or progression, and integration of ephyrae neuronal responses in the strobila. During early and mid-strobilation, polyp neurons in Ch. chesapeakei secrete substances into the surrounding tissue (Section VII). In later-stage polydisc strobilae, ephyrae beat independently while still attached, suggesting that each ephyra has an autonomous nervous system. However, Horridge (1956) noted that touching the base of an A. aurita strobila with a seeker initiated a wave of ephyra spasms along the strobila, with each ephyra contracting in succession. By contrast, Schwab (1977a) could not induce full-strobila contraction in A. aurita by stimulating the strobila base, but did achieve this by stimulating the topmost ephyra. These results suggest that ephyrae remain neuronally integrated during strobilation, likely through neurons associated with the 4-6 muscles that run from the oral disc to the foot, termed the polyp 'cord muscles'. While work on coordinated ephyral behaviour is limited to A. aurita, the shared morphology between A. aurita and Ch. chesapeakei, particularly with regard to muscle-associated neurons, suggests that a coordinated strobila response may also exist in pelagiid scyphozoans.

In contrast to polyps, which only have a nerve net, ephyrae of *Aurelia* sp. have at least two major components to their nervous system. One population of neurons coordinates pulsation during normal swimming (Horridge, 1956; Satterlie & Eichinger, 2014). These swimming-associated neurons are large, mostly located in proximity to swimming muscles, correlate with strong anti-tubulin antibody staining (Satterlie & Eichinger, 2014), and originate at the marginal ganglia associated with rhopalia (Horridge, 1956). Cutting medusae at the bell margin severs the large neurons associated with musculature and disrupts coordinated pulsing (Romanes, 1876). By contrast, the feeding response and

spasm response (where the ephyra curls into a ball that is maintained for longer than a single beat) are coordinated by the diffuse nerve net (Horridge, 1956). This diffuse nerve net consists of a web of smaller cells over the body, and shows strong anti-FMRFamide staining (Satterlie & Eichinger, 2014).

The large swimming-associated neurons likely develop de novo, as their functional outputs are not similar to any known polyp-like behaviours (Schwab, 1977*a*,*b*). By contrast, polyp contraction and ephyra spasms show more similarities, as do polyp and ephyra feeding responses (Schwab, 1977*a*,*b*). Schwab (1977b) suggests that swimming-associated neurons develop during strobilation and are superimposed over a polyp-like diffuse nerve net. This is supported by the presence of anti-FMRFamide-positive neurons in both the polyp oral disc (Nakanishi et al., 2008) and ephyra diffuse nerve net (Satterlie & Eichinger, 2014). Thus, there may be some continuity between the polyp and ephyra nervous systems, at least for the topmost segment. However, this has not been examined developmentally. It is possible that these analogous nerve nets are not, in fact, developmentally homologous. For example, the earliest larval stage - the planula - also has anti-FMRFamide-positive neurons, which degrade and re-form during metamorphosis into a polyp (Nakanishi et al., 2008). Degradation and re-formation of similar neuron types is an alternative hypothesis to the formation of the ephyra neurons *via* the persistence of polyp neurons.

Sensory and neuronal physiologies ultimately result in ephyra behaviour through the action of ephyra 'muscles'. In adult *Cyanea capillata*, muscle-associated neurons weave through myoepithelial cells that form striated swimming muscle (Anderson & Schwab, 1981). In ephyrae, musculature can be categorized into three parts, with the whole muscle system appearing like a cartoon drawing of the sun: (*i*) a band of striated circular muscle forming a ring around the ephyra margin, (*ii*) rays of striated radial muscle extending from this ring into the swimming arms, each terminating near the tip of a rhopalial lappet (two rays per swimming arm), and (3) non-striated myoepithelial cells radiating from each of the four corners of the ephyra manubrium (Helm *et al.*, 2015).

Further studies on the neuroanatomical and neuromuscular changes that take place during strobilation are needed. This is particularly true for monodisc strobilators, as well as a broader diversity of polydisc strobilators.

#### (c) Gastrovascular system

The ephyra gastrovascular system (GVS) forms in the same location as the polyp GVS, and may have similar features (such as an absence of neurons), although it is unclear if ephyra gastrodermal cells replace the original polyp cells during metamorphosis, or if the polyp gastrodermis is remodelled to form the ephyra gastroderm.

In liberated ephyrae, the stomach is located in the middle of the ephyra. Rhopalial canals radiate off the stomach and into each ephyra arm, with a velar canal between each arm. This gives the GVS a 'star-like' appearance in all Scyphozoa (Straehler-Pohl & Jarms, 2010). The developmental pattern of the GVS, both during ephyra formation and as ephyrae mature, may be an important evolutionary character: GVS development in liberated ephyrae is used as a morphological character to distinguish between the two suborders Kolpophorae and Dactyliophorae [see Holst *et al.*, 2007; it should be noted, however, that Dactyliophorae may be paraphyletic with respect to Kolpophorae (Bayha *et al.*, 2010)]. Further studies on GVS development in Scyphozoa may lead to new evolutionary insights.

#### (4) Metamorphosis of the topmost segment

For the vast majority of ephyra-producing polydisc strobilae, the topmost segment forms from the polyp upper calyx and oral disc, while the remaining rudiments form from body column tissue. Therefore, the topmost ephyra develops in a slightly different manner compared to all other segments, representing a fascinating example of two different developmental starting points – polyp calyx and body column segments – resulting in the same developmental outcome: the ephyra.

One of the first signs of strobilation for some species is the thickening of polyp tentacles (Section III.1), and these same thickened tentacle bases give rise to rhopalia. Spangenberg (1991) provided a thorough overview of rhopalia development at the base of polyp tentacles for an A. aurita line from Norfolk, VA, USA. Prior to the initiation of strobilation, numerous long 'polyp-type' kinocilia are found on polyp tentacles at the location where rhopalia will form. As a rhopalium develops, these 'polyp-type' kinocilia are largely replaced by shorter, ephyra-type kinocilia. Developing rhopalia form small knobs protruding from the swollen base of the polyp tentacle. These rhopalia knobs are at a slight angle, facing towards the polyp mouth. At the same time, polyp tentacles decrease in size. Seventy-two hours post induction at 28°C, the newly formed rhopalia at the base of tentacles are rather bulbous, and the polyp tentacles are nearly fully resorbed. The rhopalium changes shape throughout development in association with the formation of different sensory structures. When the ephyrae begin to pulse weakly, the rhopalia appear thinner and-because rhopalia are necessary for normal pulsation in medusae - are likely functional (Schwab, 1977a; Spangenberg, 1991). Eventually the topmost ephyra rudiment breaks free of the strobila stack to begin life as the first in a series of liberated ephyra. The formation of rhopalia at the tentacle base, and the absorption of tentacles, is reported in both Rhizostomeae + Ulmaridae and Pelagiidae, and is likely a shared feature within Discomedusae. Additional research on coronates in needed (see below).

Rhopalial development is closely linked to the formation of pairs of rhopalial lappets, and together these structures – two lappets with an intervening rhopalium – are termed 'rhopalar arms' (Nakanishi & Hartenstein, 2009). In the monodisc strobilator *Ca. xamachana*, lappets form on either side of the rhopalium-bearing tentacle as the tentacle is being resorbed (Bigelow, 1892). This is also true in *A. aurita* (Spangenberg, 1991). This general trend may be true across Discomedusae: rhopalia form at the base of polyp tentacles, and rhopalia lappets form to the side. Additional observations in Pelagiiade and Cyaneidae are needed.

Rhopalia are part of the ephyra neuromuscular system, and several studies have examined the neuromuscular anatomy and physiology of the polyp calvx and first ephyra, although only from A. aurita. In the tentacles of A. aurita from San Juan Island, WA, USA, neurons form a plexus at the tentacle base, and spread into the oral disc. However, they do not form a well-defined nerve ring (Chia et al., 1984). Schwab (1977a), studying polyp from Woods Hole, MA, USA, recorded electrical potentials at the site of rhopalia formation at the base of polyp tentacles before and during strobilation. In early strobila, there was no difference in the pattern of electrical potentials in polyps and these young ephyrae. Once tentacles are absorbed, there is a period of quiescence before medusa-like electrical potentials are detected (Schwab, 1977a). In medusae, all medusa ganglion potentials, i.e. potentials associated with pulsing, are transmitted between rhopalia, which coordinate movement. However, in early developing ephyrae, this is not necessarily the case. Medusa ganglion potentials are seen in early rhopalia, but are not linked between them (Schwab, 1977a).

In contrast to these developmental processes of the topmost segment in the discomedusan strobila, the fate of the topmost segment in coronates is considerably more variable. The calyx of coronate polyps can be distinguished from discomedusan polyps in several ways, most prominently by the presence of a ring sinus (Chapman & Werner, 1972). This difference may be correlated with differences in the fate of the topmost segment between Coronatae and Discomedusae. Werner (1973) notes that, at the start of strobilation in several coronate species, the polyp oral surface is reduced to form a tissue layer or plug, which may secrete a periderm operculum (although not in *Nausithoe punctata* and *N. racemosus*), sealing the tube during strobilation; when ephyrae are mature enough to escape the tube, this plug degrades and is cast off. However, Werner (1973) also reports that, in species he refers to as Stephanoscyphus spec. 7, and Stephanoscyphus komaii, the cellular operculum does not detach and is instead resorbed by the topmost ephyra. By contrast, Silveira & Morandini (1998) observed that strobilating Linuche unguiculata could, but did not always, form a peridermal operculum, and did not form tissue plugs. In five out of six specimens of L. unguiculata, the segment containing the oral disc formed an ephyra, while more-aboral discs formed planuloids. In the sixth specimen, only planuloids were formed (Silveira & Morandini, 1998). From the available information, the fate of the polyp oral disc appears more variable in coronates than in discomedusans.

#### (5) Metamorphosis of lower segments

In polydisc strobilators, ephyrae below the topmost segment form from polyp body column tissue, rather than the polyp calyx; for this reason the development of lower segments is slightly different from the topmost segment, even if the morphogenic results are ultimately the same. Rhopalia and rhopalial lappets on the topmost segment of discomedusans form in association with polyp tentacles. In lower segments these structures form via 'arm buds' (Helm et al., 2015). Arm buds first appear as small protrusions on an otherwise circular ephyra rudiment. These arm buds are arranged equidistantly, oriented away from the central body column, and are sometimes pointed. Arm buds on lower segments are present across a range of discomedusan scyphozoans [e.g. Ch. chesapeakei and Ch. achlyos (Helm et al., 2015), S. meleagris (Calder, 1982), and Rhizostoma octopus (Holst et al., 2007)]. In the coronate *Nausithoe maculate*, slight protrusions in the margin of early ephyrae also appear to be arm-bud like (Eggers & Jarms, 2007). However, there is no clear evidence for arm buds in the coronate Atorella vanhoeffeni; rhopalia and rhopalial lappets appear to develop distinctly, rather than as part of a single arm bud (Eggers & Jarms, 2007). The formation of armbuds in lower segments of polydisc strobilators appears conserved in Discomedusae, and may be present across Scyphozoa, although examination of more coronates in needed to determine whether the lack of arm buds in At. vanhoeffeni is a derived or ancestral state for Coronatae.

For animals with arm buds, the future rhopalium forms at the tip; this can be seen in *Ch. chesapeakei* using confocal microscopy (Fig. 5). In this species, approximately midway in time between segment formation and ephyra liberation, rhopalia become clearly visible to the naked eye as small nodules. At a comparable stage in *Aurelia* sp. 1, small statoliths are also present in the rhopalia (Nakanishi & Hartenstein, 2009).

To better characterize the timing of rhopalial development, Nakanishi & Hartenstein (2009) investigated the sensory and nervous system development of Aurelia sp. 1 and defined five different stages. The first stage begins approximately midway in ephyra development, with small lappets and radial muscle having already formed on either side of the rhopalium (although they are less than  $100 \,\mu m$ long). The statolith begins forming at this stage, and some neurons (including diffuse nerve net neurons) have formed, but not all neuron types are present. In the second stage, both the lappets and rhopalia are elongate, the three rhopalium segments are present, and many of the rhopalia-specific neuron populations are present, except for select sensory cells, including those associated with the ocelli, which have not yet formed. At the third stage, which may be applicable to both the lower and topmost segments, the animal begins pulsing, indicating that the pacemaker function of rhopalia is active, and anatomical connections between the rhopalia nervous system and the rest of the developing ephyra nervous system are evident. During the second and third stages, the touch plate cells develop [although Spangenberg, 1991 asserted that the touch plate does not develop until after ephyra liberation]. The fourth stage is the liberated ephyra, at which point the pigment-cup ocellus begins to develop. Nakanishi & Hartenstein (2009) label the fifth stage as the metaphyra – a transition between classic ephyra



**Fig. 5.** Young ephyra rhopalium in *Chrysaora chesapeakei*. (A) A strobila stack with the grey rectangle indicating a young ephyra rudiment. (B) Diagram of the same rudiment, viewed orally, with polyp cord muscle in red, and a box outlining the approximate location of C. (C) Confocal microscopy image of a developing arm bud, stained with BODIPY phallacidin. The developing rhopalium (r) is indicated. The dotted purple line indicates the border of the endoderm folding inward at the margins; the dotted green line indicates the outer surface of the ectoderm. Scale bars: A = 1 mm C = 50 µm.

and medusa morphologies – at which time the pigment-spot ocellus differentiates. This timeline established by Nakanishi & Hartenstein (2009) provides an excellent framework for comparing rhopalia development across Scyphozoa, including the development of unique rhopalial features such as lenses in *P. intermedia*.

While the rhopalia are developing, small tissue protrusions on either side of the future rhopalium form and differentiate into the rhopalial lappets in various members of Scyphozoa [e.g. *Ch. chesapeakei* and *Ch. achlyos* (Helm *et al.*, 2015), *S. meleagris* (Calder, 1982), *R. octopus* (Holst *et al.*, 2007), *N. maculate*]. This is true regardless of whether or not the rhopalial lappets form on an arm bud [e.g. *At. vanhoeffeni* (Eggers & Jarms, 2007)]. The presence of rhopalial lappets is a synapomorphy of Scyphozoa, and rhopalial lappets are used by ephyrae for swimming (Feitl *et al.*, 2009) and to manoeuvre food to the mouth, which they achieve with a system of muscle groups.

The stages of ephyra muscle formation in the lower segments were identified using actin staining in Ch. chesapeakei and Ch. achlyos (and in the direct-developer Pelagia noctiluca) (Helm et al., 2015). Actin-rich clusters appear first in the epidermis of early arm buds at the site of future circular muscle. As development of an arm bud progresses, these actin-rich clusters become more numerous and populate the site of future radial muscle. At around the same time that noticeable ephyra pulsation begins, these clusters show evidence of striation, eventually forming circular and striated muscle bands (Helm et al., 2015). Helm et al. (2015) found no evidence of polyp muscle being remodelled to form ephyra musculature. This suggests that ephyra musculature forms de novo during strobilation. Ephyra musculature is in close proximity to the gastrodermis, with circular muscle forming a ring around the main gastrovascular cavity, and radial muscle present on either side of the rhopalial gastrovascular canals.

The opening to the gastrovascular system – the mouth – must form from different tissue types in the topmost and lower segments. In the topmost segment, the ephyra mouth forms at the site of the polyp mouth, but in the lower segments the ephyra mouth must develop at the site of the tissue constriction that forms between rudiments. In *Ch. chesapeakei*, the ephyra mouth takes on a four-point star shape, with the four polyp cord muscles running through the indentations of the future mouth (Helm *et al.*, 2015). Because each ephyra is linked to the ephyra above *via* a mouth-to-exumbrella connection, completion of mouth development may be associated with strobila fracture and ephyra liberation.

Concurrent with the development of ephyra structures from ephyra rudiments, polyp structures are being reduced. In *Aurelia* sp. polyp stinging cells known as 'atrichous polyspiras nematocysts', degrade during ephyra formation (Spangenberg, 1968). Polyp cord muscle moves inwards towards the centre of the strobila and becomes thinner (Eggers & Jarms, 2007; Helm *et al.*, 2015). The remnant of this polyp muscle runs through the ephyrae manubria, and is among the last tissue connecting one ephyra rudiment to the next in the discomedusan *Ch. chesapeakei* (Helm *et al.*, 2015) and in several coronates (Eggers & Jarms, 2007). In liberated ephyrae of *A. aurita* and *Ch. chesapeakei*, all polyp cord muscle degrades, and the location of past cord muscle becomes the site of future gastric filaments in the ephyra gastrodermis and subumbrella epidermis (Chuin, 1930; Russell, 1970).

## IV. PHYLOGENETIC VARIATION IN STROBILATION TYPE

There are two distinct types of strobilation in Scyphozoa: polydisc (where multiple ephyrae are produced) and monodisc (producing only a single ephyra). Initial phylogenetic analyses suggested that monodisc strobilation was specific to Rhizostomeae (Collins, 2002), and arose from ancestral polydisc strobilation (Marques & Collins, 2004). However, Semaeostomeae is likely paraphyletic with Rhizostomeae (Bayha *et al.*, 2010), and not all animals within this Rhizostomeae + Ulmaridae clade exhibit monodisc strobilation. Fig. 6 shows the distribution of mono- and polydisc strobilation for select scyphozoans. Character states for most species were derived from the literature supplemented with personal observations, and references are provided in Table 1.

Polydisc strobilation is more broadly distributed than monodisc strobilation, and has been hypothesized as the ancestral condition (Collins, 2002) (Fig. 6). The most parsimonious explanation for the origin of monodisc strobilation is that it arose independently at least twice. The vast majority of monodisc strobilators are rhizostomes in the taxonomic suborder Kolpophorae (Kramp, 1961), which is also strongly supported in molecular phylogenies based on 18S and 28S ribosomal DNA sequences (Bayha et al., 2010). Monodisc strobilation as a synapomorphy of Kolpophorae is in agreement with previous observations (Holst et al., 2007; Dawson & Hamner, 2009). For species in the clade Kolpophorae where the full life cycle is known, polyps have a relatively small cup-shaped calyx and a long narrow peduncle (Holst et al., 2007) (Fig. 2C). This small calve physically restricts the amount of tissue that can metamorphose into ephyra rudiments (Berrill, 1949). Sporadic monodisc strobilation is sometimes observed in polydisc strobilators when polyps are very small (Spangenberg, 1968), suggesting that calyx size may be an important variable related to ephyra production. Thus, monodisc strobilation in Kolpophorae may be related to their unique polyp anatomy (Holst et al., 2007).

Monodisc strobilation has also been documented in *Sanderia malayensis* (Uchida & Sugiura, 1978; Adler & Jarms, 2009). *Sanderia malayensis* is nested within Pelagiidae (Bayha *et al.*, 2010), and all other species in this clade that strobilate are polydisc strobilators (Fig. 6). However, monodisc strobilation is not the only form of post-embryonic development that sets *Sa. malayensis* apart from its close relatives in Pelagiidae. *Sanderia malayensis* polyp asexual reproduction is incredibly diverse, leading Adler & Jarms (2009) to create several new categories of asexual reproduction just for this species (including budding directly off the gastrodermis). Whether this diverse asexual reproduction has any connection with its unique mode of strobilation is not known.

## V. LIFE-CYCLE VARIATION AND OTHER FORMS OF MEDUSA DEVELOPMENT

Although strobilation is the most common mechanism by which medusae are produced, several scyphozoans have evolved radically altered life histories, where strobilation has either been reduced or lost completely. Diverse forms of direct development may have originated independently as many as four times within Scyphozoa (Fig. 7), and at least once facultatively. In the obligate direct-developing scyphozoans *Pelagia noctiluca*, *Periphylla periphylla*, *Poralia* sp. (possibly) and *Stygiomedusa fabulosa*, the planula and/or polyp stages are either absent or highly modified (Table 1). *Pelagia noctiluca* and *Per. periphylla* both develop medusae without an apparent polyp stage; these life cycles were first placed into an evolutionary context by Dawson & Hamner (2009). However, beyond the absence of a polyp in these two species, the process of direct development is markedly different.

Of all direct-developing medusae, Per. periphylla is the most extreme, having lost the planula, polyp and ephyra stages. Periphvlla periphvlla is a coronate with a deep- and cold-water distribution; it is the only coronate known to have direct medusa development (Jarms et al., 1999). Jarms et al. (1999) collected young Per. periphylla from plankton tows in Lurefjorden, Norway, and catalogued eight distinct developmental stages. In stages 1-4, extremely large (1.6 mm), neutrally buoyant eggs develop not into planulae, as in all other scyphozoans, but into thimble-like immature medusae (Fig. 8Ai, ii). At stage 5, 16 developing lappets and four rhopalia are visible on the margin, although the mouth has yet to open (Fig. 8Aiii). The marginal lappets and rhopalia are similar in appearance to ephyrae, but the apex of the bell is quite bulbous, differing from the flat morphology of other ephyrae. Slightly later (stage 6), tentacle buds appear and the mouth opens. In stage 7, all the features of young medusae are present (12 tentacles, rhopalia; Fig. 8Aiv), and in stage 8, medusae become pigmented. Development takes 2-3 months from fertilization to feeding medusae, and light exposure causes pigment loss and lethality (Jarms, Tiemann & Båmstedt, 2002). For this reason, only stages 1-4 were reared in captivity (Jarms et al., 2002). Whether the life cycle of *Per. periphylla* is unique is not clear. There are many deep and/or cold-water coronates that remain poorly known.

Pelagia noctiluca is a globally distributed species within Pelagiidae. Unlike Per. periphylla, for which direct development was only recently described, direct development of *Pel. noctiluca* has been known for over 100 years (Metchnikoff, 1886; Goette, 1893). In Pel. noctiluca, planulae develop into small ephyrae (Fig. 8B). Spawning occurs approximately 2 h after first light exposure (Helm et al., 2015). At 300 µm, Pel. noctiluca eggs are among the largest known in Scyphozoa (although still dwarfed by those of Per. periphylla; Berrill, 1949), and come in a variety of colours (Helm et al., 2015). The first embryonic cleavage is unipolar and total, and at 18°C embryos become motile at 12 h post-fertilization. Gastrulation is not fully characterized, but involves an invagination at the future oral surface (Helm et al., 2015). As gastrulation progresses, endoderm forms in the oral half of the embryo (Fig. 8Bi). Two to three asymmetrical pockets form within this endoderm, and eventually fuse to form the ephyra gastric cavity (Goette, 1893; Helm et al., 2015). At roughly 60 h post fertilization, four ephyra arm buds are visible on the oral surface around the mouth (Fig. 8Bii). Shortly after this 'four-prong stage', four more arm buds develop interspaced between the first four, to give a total of eight arm buds (Fig. 8Biii). These arm buds develop in a similar manner to those in Ch. chesapeakei and Ch. achlyos (Helm et al., 2015). Here, ephyra development appears quite



Fig. 6. The distribution of strobilation types in Scyphozoa: polydisc strobilation (red), and monodisc strobilation (blue). Monodisc strobilation appears to have arisen at least twice, once in the last ancestor of Kolpophorae (which includes *Cotylorhiza tuberculata, Cephea cephea, Cassiopea andromeda, Ca. xamachana, Catostylus mosaicus, Phyllorhiza punctata,* and *Mastigias papua*), and once in the ancestor of *Sanderia malayensis*. Sequences of 18S and 28S ribosomal DNA from Bayha *et al.* (2010) were used to build this tree. Genes were aligned using ClustalW2 with standard input parameters. The topology is based on a consensus maximum likelihood (ML) tree generated with RaxML (v.8) with 100 bootstrap replicates. Bootstrap support values >90 are indicated with an asterisk (\*). All species used to generate the base ML tree are indicated with an associated Genbank ID following the species name, and a solid branch. This topology is supplemented with additional species for which there are currently no gene-sequence data. The positions of these species are based on Linnaean taxonomic rank, and indicated with dashed branches. Character states were coded as shown in Table 1.

similar to that of closely related species with strobilation, but begins at the planula rather than the polyp stage (Fig. 8Biv).

Two additional scyphozoan species have been reported to show direct development, although much less is known about them. The deep-water ulmarid *Poralia* sp. may develop directly. Straehler-Pohl, Widmer & Morandini (2011, p. 22) state, 'There are also data suggesting that the ulmarid *Poralia* sp. (Poraliinae) from deep waters of Monterey Bay Canyon is probably a holopelagic, brooding jellyfish, lacking scyphistoma stages in its life cycle (Chad Widmer, unpublished results)'. However, further substantiation has not been published.

A second ulmarid species with a modified life cycle is *Stygiomedusa fabulosa* (Russell & Rees, 1960). In a large specimen collected by Russell & Rees (1960), no mature gonads were found, but a kind of brood chamber was present in the stomach. A strip of tissue within this brood chamber, called the 'germinal line', gives rise to bud-like structures that the authors called 'scyphistomae', although the ontogenetic and evolutionary relationship between these buds and free-living polyps is not clear. Each 'scyphistoma' is contained within a tissue capsule that is connected to the parent medusa. Thus, the developing 'scyphistoma' is secured to the parent stomach in a placenta-like structure. The 'scyphistoma' encased within this odd capsule develops directly into a small medusa, such that 'The most developed capsule, 6.5 cm long and 4.3 cm wide, contained an almost fully developed medusa, complete with gastrovascular system, and mouth arms and the reddish purple coloration typical of the adult' (Russell & Rees, 1960, p. 313). This odd form of development

nplified life cycle missi nected from (solitary) ) absent (0), or unknov	
aplified life cycle m nected from (solita ) absent (0), or unk	
nplified life cycl nected from (so ) absent (0), or 1	
nplified life c nected from ) absent (0),	
nplified li nected fr ) absent (	
nplifie necte ) abse	
ne ne	
- I D H	
a si scoi int (	
or ese	
live s pı	
iedi yps ed a	
d m pol	
an ler ] re c	
.yps heth l'ai	
pol wł soic	
ae, s to edu	
nul fer Me	
pla y re nd	
alit a' a	
e w oni: dusa	
cycl col Mec	
ife (	
ex l Po lyra	
npl on. Eph	
cor lati ', 'J	
r a obi	
ithe str 'Pc	
o e disc lla',	
ers t oly anu	
reference of the second	
/pe 0- ( ling	
le ty non slud	
r n inc	
ithe ges,	
stag	
ans rs t cle	
ozc refe ?-cy	
yph pe liffe	
f sc. tyj	
n o tior iffer	
ctio Dila e.	
trol trol yps	
s. s. s. S. pol	
e fo age her ap	
ype fo e stage ) other not ap	
cle type fo hese stage nial) other on not ap	
-cycle type fo of these stage olonial) other nation not ap	
ife-cycle type fo re of these stage (colonial) other ormation not ap	
<ol> <li>Life-cycle type fo more of these stage d to (colonial) other , information not ap</li> </ol>	
ale 1. Life-cycle type fo or more of these stage ched to (colonial) other NA, information not ap	

(?). NA, inform	ation not applicable.										
Clade		Species	Life-cycle type	Strobilation type	Polyp coloniality	Planula	Polyp 1	Iphyra 1	Medusa N	Iedusoid	Source
Coronatae	Pariphyllidae Nausithoidae	Periphylla periphylla Nausithoe aurea	simple complex	NA polydisc	VN c.	0	0	0		0 0	Jarms et al. (1999) Morandini & da Silveira (2001), Silveira, Morandini & Jarms (2003) and Stampar, Silveira &
		Thecoscyphus zibrowii Stephanoscyphus planulophorus	complex complex	polydisc polydisc	? solitary	<u> </u>		0	0 %.	c.	Morandini (2007) Sötje & Jarms (2009) Werner & Hentschel (1983); Werner
		Stephanoscyphus mirabilis Stephanoscyphus racemosus	complex complex	polydisc polydisc	colonial colonial	۰. ۰.	1 1		<u> </u>	0	Werner (1970) Werner (1970); Werner (1973)
	Linuchidae	Stephanoscyphus eumedusoides Linuche unguiculata	complex complex	polydisc polydisc	solitary ?	с. <u>п</u>	1 1	с. <b>п</b>	0 1	1 0	Werner (1973) Jarms et al. (2002); Durate et al. (2000);
Discomedusae	Cyaneidae	Cyanea nozakii Cyanea capillata	complex complex	monodisc polydisc	solitary solitary			1 1	1 1	0 0	Fuertas <i>et al.</i> (2000) Dong <i>et al.</i> (2008) Gröndahl & Hernroth
	Pelagiidae	Chrysaora fuscescens Chrysaora chesapeakei Chrysaora lactea	complex complex complex	polydisc polydisc polydisc	solitary solitary solitary					000	(1987) Widmer (2008) Calder (1974) Morandini, da Silveira & Tarms (2004)
		Chrysaora melanaster Pelagia noctiluca	complex simple	polydisc NA	solitary NA		0 1	1 1	1 1	0 0	R.H.Helm, personal observations Metchnikoff (1886) and Goetre (1893)
	Rhizostomcae Ulm	Sanderia malayensis naridae Aurelia aurita	complex complex	monodisc polydisc	solitary solitary				1 1	0 0	Adler & Jams (2009) and Uchida and Sugiura (1978) Russell (1970), Vagelli (2007) and
		Deepstaria enigmatica Stygiomedusa fabulosa Phacellophora camtschatica	? simple? complex	? ? polydisc	? ? solitary	<u><u></u></u>	۰. ۰. <del>۱</del>	o. o. <u>–</u>		a. a. O	Mayorova, Kosevich & Melekhova (2012) Russell (1967) Widmer (2006)

Clade		Species	Life-cycle type	Strobilation type	Polyp coloniality	Planula ]	olyp Ep	hyra N	ledusa N	Aedusoid	Source
		Poralia sp.	simple?	e.	د.	e.	¢.	c	-	c.	Straehler-Pohl, Widmer &
											Morandini (2011)
	Lychnorhizidae	Lychnorhiza lucerna	complex	polydisc	solitary	-	-	-	-	0	Schiariti et al. (2008)
	Catostylidae	Catostylus mosaicus	complex	polydisc	solitary	-	-	1	-	0	Pitt (2000)
	Rhizostomatidae	Rhizostoma pulmo	complex	polydisc	solitary	-	-	-	-	0	Fuentes $et al. (2011)$
		Rhopilema verrilli	complex	polydisc	solitary	1	1	1	1	0	Calder $(1973)$
		Rhopilema esculentum	compex	polydisc	solitary	-	1	1	1	0	Dong et al. (2008)
	Stomolophidae	Stomolophus meleagris	complex	polydisc	solitary	-	-	1	-	0	Calder (1982)
	Kolpophorae	Cephea cephea	complex	monodisc	solitary	-	1	1	1	0	Sugiura (1966)
	I	Cotylorhiza tuberculata	complex	monodisc	solitary	-		-	-	0	R.R. Helm, personal
											observations
		Cassiopea andromeda	complex	monodisc	solitary	-	-	-	-	0	Hofmann, Neumann
											& Henne (1978)
		Mastigias papua	complex	monodisc	solitary	-	1	1	1	0	Sugiura $(1964)$
		Phyllorhiza punctata	complex	monodisc	solitary	1	1	1	-	0	R.R. Helm, personal
											observations Rouse
											& Pitt (2000)

was described from a large, badly damaged animal collected in a net haul from the deep sea, which unfortunately did not preserve well. However, the accompanying photographs, illustrations and descriptions leave no question that medusa development within the gastric cavity is present in *S. fabulosa* (Russell & Rees, 1960). It is not clear if this form of reproduction is sexual or asexual, or if it is the only form of medusa development in this species.

All four direct developers share a similar open-ocean habitat. In Hydrozoa, direct-developing medusae also have an open-ocean distribution (Gibbons *et al.* 2009). The evolution of direct development in Scyphozoa may thus be correlated with this open-ocean distribution, and a lack of suitable substrate on which polyps might settle.

In addition to these cases of obligate direct development, there are several descriptions of facultative direct development in the ulmarid *Aurelia* sp. Haeckel (1881) described some planulae from an *A. aurita* culture that developed directly into tiny ephyrae. Kakinuma (1975) also documented ephyrae development from planulae in *A. aurita*, and reported that overcrowding of planulae, plus the presence of parental mucus, caused some planulae to develop directly into ephyrae. If *A. aurita* can indeed develop ephyrae either directly or indirectly, this would provide an excellent comparative system to contrast with both obligate direct and indirect developers.

In contrast to the loss or modification of planulae and polyps, a small subset of scyphozoans have reduced or lost the medusa stage. 'Medusoids' – highly reduced medusae – are reported in *Stephanoscyphus racemosus* and *Stephanoscyphus eumedusoides* (Werner, 1974; Jarms *et al.*, 2002). *Thecoscyphus zibrowii* shows the most reduced medusa development of any scyphozoan known to date (Sötje & Jarms, 2009). Polyps form oocytes that are then encased in an egg sac during a process that resembles strobilation, with the egg sac being a greatly reduced medusa. The egg sac is not liberated, and planulae eventually burst from it, after which the reformed polyp pushes the egg sac out of its chitinous tube (Sötje & Jarms, 2009).

In the cave-dwelling Stephanoscyphus planulophorus, ephyrae rudaments did not develop into sexually reproductive medusae but instead metamorphosed into ciliated planuloids (Werner & Hentschel, 1983). However, it is not clear whether this stage is facultative; as mentioned previously, another coronate, Linuche unguiculata, can produce both planulae and medusae via strobilation (Silveira & Morandini, 1998) (Fig. 3C). Additionally, when Aurelia sp. (and Ch. chesapeakei, personal observations) strobilae are exposed to major environmental stress (e.g. extremes in temperature or salinity) they can become 'polyp-strobilae,' whereby each segment develops not into an ephyra, but into a polyp (as reviewed in Spangenberg, 1968) (Fig. 3D, E). It is possible that Stephanoscyphus planulophorus produce planuloids or medusoids under certain conditions, and ephyrae under others. It is also possible that non-ephyra strobilation may have become developmentally canalized in this species, and is the only form of strobilation present.



**Fig. 7.** The distribution of life-cycle types in Scyphozoa. Direct ephyra/medusa development appears to have originated at least three times independently (probably four, but no sequence data are available for *Stygiomedusa fabulosa*). Reduced medusa development is present in the Coronatae. Sequences of 18S and 28S ribosomal DNA from Bayha *et al.* (2010) were used to build this tree. Genes were aligned using ClustalW2 with standard input parameters. The topology is based on a consensus maximum likelihood (ML) tree generated with RaxML (v.8) with 100 bootstrap replicates. Bootstrap support values >90 are indicated with an asterisk (\*). All species used to generate the base ML tree are indicated with an associated Genbank ID following the species name, and a solid branch. This topology is supplemented with additional species for which there are currently no gene-sequence data. The positions of these species are based on Linnaean taxonomic rank, and indicated with dashed branches. Character states were coded as indicated in Table 1.

#### VI. ECOLOGICAL CUES AND STROBILATION

External environmental conditions often play a key role in triggering strobilation. I now briefly review the environmental variables involved in the induction of strobilation. A more detailed treatment can be found in Lucas *et al.* (2012). Although several environmental parameters, such as temperature, are important in many species, the exact cues to strobilation induction appear variable both within and among species, and likely reflect local and historical selective pressures.

Strobilation in many species is triggered by abiotic factors associated with seasonal changes. In the temperate species studied to date, temperature is important in strobilation induction, although the temperature and duration of change necessary may vary with species and population (Lucas *et al.*, 2012). For example, many populations of A. aurita produce ephyrae after prolonged cold periods, such as in Kertinge Nor Fjord, Denmark, where ephyrae first appear in February (Olesen & Riisgaard, 1994). However, in Gullmar Fjord in western Sweden, A. aurita polyps strobilate in October (Gröndahl, 1988). These two different populations may be responding to different environmental cues, including temperature, or may require different durations of cold before strobilation. This may also be due to cryptic species variation in A. aurita (Dawson & Jacobs, 2001), genetic variation between populations, interannual variation, variation in environmental conditions between the two sites, or some combination thereof. Chrysaora chesapeakei in Chesapeake Bay produce ephyrae in the late spring and summer (Cargo & Rabenold, 1980), while Cy. capillata in the same area are reported to produce ephryae in the autumn



**Fig. 8.** Development of two scyphozoan species without a polyp stage. (A) Development of *Periphylla periphylla* larvae, based on Jarms *et al.* (1999): (i) a large yolky egg is fertilized; and (ii) develops into a thimble shaped larva; (iii) over time, this thimble-larva grows rhopalar arms on the oral surface; and (iv) eventually becomes a young medusa, bypassing the planula and ephyra stages. (B) Development of *Pelagia noctiluca* begins when (i) a planula with a core endoderm develops into (ii) a 'four-prong larvae' with four developing rhopalar arms on the oral epidermis. (iii) Slightly later, this larva develops four additional arm buds with small rhopalia on the tips. (iv) These arm buds develop into swimming arms in mature ephyrae, each with two rhopalial lappets, one on each side of a rhopalium.

(Cargo & Schultz, 1967). For *R. octopus*, strobilation is induced by both an increase or decrease in temperature (Holst *et al.*, 2007). Some Kolpophorae species strobilate in response to increased temperatures (Holst *et al.*, 2007).

Salinity and light exposure may also play important roles in strobilation (Lucas *et al.*, 2012). Changes in salinity affect the onset of strobilation in *Ch. chesapeakei* (Purcell *et al.*, 1999). *Chrysaora chesapeakei* is an estuarine species, and fresh water may be an important seasonal trigger. Light intensity and photoperiodicity may also play crucial roles in inducing strobilation in some species (Purcell *et al.*, 2007; Purcell, Hoover & Schwarck, 2009). However, a possible role of light in inducing strobilation remains unclear (Lucas *et al.*, 2012). In some species with symbiotic zooxanthellae in the polyps and medusae, the zooxanthellae appear to be required for strobilation, as polyps uninfected with zooxanthellae do not strobilate (Hofmann & Kremer, 1981).

## VII. MOLECULAR MECHANISMS OF STROBILATION

The biochemical processes involved in strobilation are not well understood. Limited observations have been made on structural neuronal changes associated with strobilation (Arai, 1997), and several compounds are known either to induce or to be associated with strobilation.

Little is known about neuronal features associated with strobilation. Loeb & Hayes (1981) investigated features of polyp neurons in and around the calyx of *Ch. chesapeakei*. In pre-strobila polyps and early strobilae, but not in young polyps, these calyx neurons show evidence of neurosecretory material, which was secreted into the surrounding tissue in early strobilae. Neurosecretory cells containing neurosecretory granules have also been observed in *Ch. chesapeakei* polyps at the neck-formation stage (Crawford & Webb, 1972). In segmenting strobilae, dense granules are found in axons, but these are largely absent in strobilae at later stages. These secreted compounds may play a role in strobilation induction or progression.

Environmental compounds are also known to have an important role in strobilation. Iodine, a trace element in sea water, is required for strobilation (Paspalev, 1938): when kept in iodine-free sea water, polyps of *Rhizostoma pulmo* do not strobilate. Spangenberg (1967) studied a Texas strain of *A. aurita* in which cold periods are necessary for strobilation, and found that even prolonged cold in the absence of iodine was insufficient to induce strobilation. However, adding

iodine to polyps 'conditioned' in cold water caused a rapid onset of strobilation. This suggests that iodine may function in a temperature-induction pathway (Spangenberg, 1967). Using radioautography, Spangenberg (1971) showed that radioactive iodine was incorporated into patches of cells in the polyp ectoderm and gastroderm, as well as the mesoglea. In another study on *A. aurita*, iodine concentrations were reportedly three times higher in the segmented region of a strobila compared to the aboral foot (Olmon & Webb, 1974) and the authors suggested that inorganic iodide, rather than bound iodine, was responsible for induction. Iodine is also necessary for strobilation in *Ch. chesapeakei* (Black & Webb, 1973).

Spangenberg (1967) also found that the addition of thyroxine, a vertebrate hormone involved in thyroid signalling, induced strobilation in cold-treated polyps. Iodine-containing intermediates in the thyroid hormone synthesis pathway, including triiodothyronine, diiodotyrosine (DIT), monoiodotyrosine (MIT), and thyroglobulin, had a similar effect (Fig. 9). All of these compounds contain iodine, and DIT induced strobilation in as little as 4 days, i.e. a rate comparable to elemental iodine (Spangenberg, 1971). Using Radiochromatography, Spangenberg (1971) identified three endogenous protein-bound iodinated compounds in A. aurita polyps after iodine induction. One of these compounds is secreted, and Spangenberg (1971) tentatively identified it as thyroxine. The other two compounds were tentatively identified as MIT and DIT (Spangenberg, 1974), explaining why ectopically applied thyroxine, DIT, and MIT induced strobilation. Putative MIT was found 8 h after iodide addition, while putative thyroxine was found between 16 and 24 h and putative DIT after 24 h (Spangenberg, 1974). Similarly to A. aurita, two compounds tentatively identified as iodotyrosines and thyroxine were identified in Ch. chesapeakei (Black & Webb, 1973). Spangenberg (1974) showed that the addition of iodine concurrently with goitrogens (compounds that interfere with thyroid function in mammals by inhibiting iodine uptake) to A. aurita polyp cultures failed to induce strobilation. Chromatography confirmed that the addition of these goitrogens inhibited iodine uptake, as well as the synthesis of the three protein-bound iodine compounds.

The fact that iodine and thyroid hormone-like compounds may be involved in strobilation in the two species, *A. aurita* and *C. chesapeakei*, is phylogenetically significant as these species are in two different clades (Fig. 1): *Chrysaora* is in Pelagiidae, while *Aurelia* is in Rhizostomeae + Ulmaridae. Shared features between these two groups thus suggest that these features may have been present in the most recent common ancestor of Discomedusae. While additional data are needed (particularly from Cyaneidae and Coronatae), iodine and thyroid hormone-like compounds may be necessary in strobilation for all Discomedusae, and potentially all scyphozoans.

Rather than an active role for thyroid hormone in strobilation induction, Berking *et al.* (2005) suggested that iodine functions in a larger oxidative defence pathway, and it is this defence pathway that induces strobilation. The authors suggest that iodide in sea water and reactive oxygen species (ROS) interact to form iodine, and this iodinates an unknown target, which induces strobilation. The authors added hydrogen peroxide to sea water, and induced strobilation in *Aurelia* sp., suggesting that ROS may indeed be involved in strobilation induction.

Berking et al. (2005) also found that the addition of tyrosine inhibited strobilation, and suggested that tyrosine is a natural strobilation inhibitor. Tyrosine is iodinated by iodine, and the authors suggest that this iodinated tyrosine acts as a natural sink for iodine: ROS and iodide will continuously produce low levels of iodine, which binds to tyrosine and diffuses into the sea water, removing iodine from the system. However, when tyrosine levels are reduced in polyp tissue, or the iodine/ROS ratio is increased, iodine can then react with an unknown strobilation-induction molecule. Once strobilation is initiated, the authors suggest that additional segments are formed in polydisc strobilators through a reduction of tyrosine levels in nearby tissue. Many Aurelia sp. lines produce pigmented ephyrae, and the authors propose that the production of melanin in the topmost segments, which requires tyrosine, may reduce tyrosine levels in lower segments; this reduction in tyrosine then causes the polyp tissue to form ephyra tissue.

Berking *et al.* (2005) added compounds that inhibit melanin production in other organisms (D-penicillamine and caffeic acid) to strobilae, and halted the process of strobilation. Following addition of D-penicillamine, strobilae transform to stacks of polyps. However, as mentioned in Section V, strobilae exposed to stress can form polyp-strobilae. Furthermore, the presence of melanin as a pigment in strobilae has not yet been verified. While the Berking *et al.* (2005) model is compelling, it requires further testing, in particular, regarding the identification of the proposed iodinated target, and replication of their observations on hydrogen peroxide induction.

Two studies also report that unwashed polystyrene dishes are effective inducers of strobilation. In the Discomedusa *A. aurita*, 69 animals strobilated in unwashed dishes out of 144, compared to 0 out of 144 in washed dishes (Herrmann, Siefker & Berking, 2003). In the Coronatae *Nausithoe aurea*, six of eighteen polyps strobilated in unwashed dishes, compared to zero of eighteen in washed dishes (Stampar, Silveira & Morandini, 2007). The particular compounds triggering metamorphosis are unknown, though may be related to oxidative stress (Herrmann, Siefker & Berking, 2003). Given the simplicity of the protocol, and potential efficacy in both discomedusans and cornonates, additional studies are warranted.

Several authors have attempted to characterize proteins secreted in association with strobilation. Concentrating sea water in which polyps were induced to strobilate allowed Loeb (1974*a*) to identify a 'neck-inducing factor (NIF)' that is secreted several hours after *Ch. chesapeakei* are exposured to induction cues. Loeb (1974*b*) identified this NIF as a 1650 Da peptide, and polyps exposed to monomers, dimers



**Fig. 9.** Some compounds reported to induce strobilation. Red represents regions of potential functional significance, as determined by the efficacy of synthetic indole-containing compounds (Fuchs *et al.*, 2014). (A) Indomethacin and (B) 5-methoxy-2-methylindole induce strobilation in a broad diversity of Discomedusae (Kuniyoshi *et al.*, 2012; Fuchs *et al.*, 2014; Helm & Dunn, in press). (C–E) Thyroid hormone and precursors are effective in inducing strobilation in an *Aurelia aurita* line from Texas (Spangenberg, 1971, 1974): (C) monoiodotyrosine (MIT), (D) diiodotyrosine (DIT), and (E) triiodothyronine (T3). (F) Eumelanin has been implicated in strobilation in *A. aurita* (Berking *et al.*, 2005).

and tetramers of this peptide formed elongated necks. The identity of the NIF is unknown.

For *A. aurita* polyps from Roscoff, France, the onset of strobilation after exposure to diffusible endogenous molecules is quite rapid. Fuchs *et al.* (2014) showed that strobilation can be induced by exposing *A. aurita* polyps to strobila tissue through either ingestion or physical contact. Feeding pieces of strobilae to polyps induced strobilation in as little as 48 h. However, this was only the case for contact or ingestion of strobila pieces from the same culture line. Exposing polyps to strobila tissue from other polyp lines or populations did not induce strobilation (Fuchs *et al.*, 2014).

While thyroid hormone-like compounds have been implicated as diffusible inducers of strobilation (Spangenberg, 1967), Fuchs *et al.* (2014) suggest a different signalling pathway. Fuchs *et al.* (2014) examined gene expression during strobilation in a Roscoff strain of *A. aurita.* They discovered that several possible homologues of genes associated with

retinoic acid (RA) signalling were differentially expressed during strobilation, including two retinol dehydrogenases (RDHs) and a homologue of retinoid X receptor (RxR). One RDH was downregulated during strobilation, while the other RDH and RxR were both upregulated. RDHs are enzymes that convert vitamin A (retinol) into the intermediate 9-cis RA, which then binds to a heterodimer complex including RxR. Incubating polyps in 9-cis RA induced strobilation after 7-12 days, considerably faster than the 19-21 days necessary for temperature induction. By contrast, exposure of polyps to two chemicals that inhibit retinoic acid signalling, 4-diethylaminobenzaldehyde (DEAB) and UVI3003, delayed strobilation with 9-cis RA. However, DEAB did not inhibit naturally induced strobilation. By contrast, UVI3003 delayed (1 µM) or fully repressed (5 µM) naturally induced strobilation. Together, these data suggest that RA signalling may be involved in strobilation induction. However, inducing polyps with 9-cis RA was still considerably slower than feeding polyps pieces of strobilae (Fuchs et al., 2014) implying that 9-cis RA does not act alone.

Fuchs *et al.* (2014) also identified transcripts that are strongly upregulated in strobilae. One such transcript, CL390 (short for 'cluster 390' on their microarray), was only expressed in strobilae. This transcript increased with cold-temperature exposure, and Fuchs *et al.* (2014) suggested that it may act as a cold-sensitive molecular timer by increasing during cold exposure until a threshold is reached, after which strobilation is induced. To test the function of CL390, Fuchs *et al.* (2014) synthesized short peptides based on the transcript sequence. One peptide sequence (WSRRRWL) induced strobilation when polyps were soaked in a peptide seawater solution. However, this response may be species-specific.

Brekhman *et al.* (2015) sequenced mRNA from an *A. aurita* line from the Red Sea. A CL390-like transcript was identified that appeared to be upregulated during strobilation. Interestingly, they found that this CL390-like transcript showed only 69% similarity to the Roscoff *A. aurita* CL390 sequence, and was missing the peptide sequence characterized by Fuchs *et al.* (2014). Such a high degree of variation suggests rapid evolution of this protein, or may be related to the considerable population-level variation in strobilation onset. This could explain why polyps only strobilate when fed strobila pieces from the same line (Fuchs *et al.*, 2014). Additional CL390 sequences from other *A. aurita* lines and scyphozoans are needed to examine these hypotheses further.

Several other strobilation-inducing small molecules have also been identified. The drug indomethacin was found to induce strobilation in an *A. aurita* population from southern Japan (Kuniyoshi *et al.*, 2012). The core structure of indomethacin is an indole, an aromatic bicyclic structure composed of two adjoined rings: a six-membered benzene and a nitrogen-containing five-atom ring (Fig. 9). Kuniyoshi *et al.* (2012) found that indomethacin induces strobilation in a dose- and duration-dependent manner. Fuchs *et al.* (2014) identified four additional indole-containing compounds that induced strobilation in the Roscoff *A. aurita* line. They tested a diversity of indoles, but only those modified with a methyl or carboxylic group at the C2 position induced strobilation.

Keeping indoles in mind, recall that Berking *et al.* (2005) found that pharmacological inhibition of melanin production halts strobilation. A common form of melanin, eumelanin, is composed of multiple linked indoles, all with a carboxylic group at the C2 position (Fig. 9). Pharmaceuticals that inhibit melanin production thus could potentially react with other indole pathways. Triiodothyronine, DIT, and MIT also all show structural similarity, with carboxylic groups at C2 (Fig. 9), and CL390 has several tryptophans with associated indole rings. Perhaps the ability of triiodothyronine, DIT, MIT, and CL390 to induce strobilation is related to their structural similarity to endogenous indoles, or *vice versa*.

Several authors have used indoles to induce strobilation in a variety of scyphozoan species (Yamamori et al., 2017; Helm & Dunn, 2017). Nearly all discomedusan scyphozoans tested strobilate in the presence of indoles, but the coronate Linuche sp. does not (Helm & Dunn, 2017). Because the same compounds induce the same response across multiple species sharing a common ancestor, it is likely that indoles may be targeting an evolutionarily conserved endogenous signalling pathway, at least in Discomedusae. Indoles are abundant in the marine environment, and in addition to the possibility that polyps may produce indoles or structural analogues endogenously, it is also possible that polyps sense these compounds (such as from prey items, algae, or bacteria) and use these cues to strobilate. Regardless of where indoles or structural analogues originate, the responsiveness of polyps to indoles appears highly conserved (Helm & Dunn, 2017).

#### **VIII. FUTURE DIRECTIONS**

Many unanswered questions remain on the development and evolution of scyphomedusae. For many species, we do not even have basic information on their life histories. Obtaining this information will not only enhance our understanding of life-cycle evolution and development, but may also provide valuable ecological insights.

For species where the full life cycle is known, we have an opportunity to explore more in-depth questions on evolution and development. For example, to what extent are polyp morphologies remodelled during ephyrae formation? Generally, there are two major categories of metamorphosis in animals: remodelling, where larval tissues are reformed into adult tissues, and compartmentalization, where larval tissues degrade and adult tissues develop from quiescent cells set aside during embryogenesis for the development of adult tissues (Moran, 1994). In many organisms, such as holometabolous insects or sea urchins, many adult tissues are derived from set-aside cells. However, in these cases, metamorphosis is rapid and identifiable quiescent cell populations are present in the larvae (e.g. imaginal discs and rudiment cells). No clear multipotent or quiescent cells are evident in Scyphozoa (Gold & Jacobs, 2012). Another possible mechanism of metamorphosis is cellular reprogramming, wherein previously differentiated cells de- or trans-differentiate to form new tissues. Evidence for this phenomenon has been observed in scyphozoan embryonic development (Yuan *et al.*, 2008; Gold *et al.*, 2016).

There is some evidence that metamorphosis via strobilation involves the formation of new tissues in ephyrae, rather than remodelling of polyp tissue. Ephyra muscle is not remodelled from pre-existing polyp muscle in Ch. chesapeakei (Helm et al., 2015). The same is true for tentacles; rather than medusa tentacles being remodelled from pre-existing polyp tentacles, polyp tentacles are resorbed and new medusa tentacles develop separately (Spangenberg, 1968; Gold et al., 2015). Polyp-type kinocilia are also replaced by ephyra-type kinocilia at the site of future rhopalia (Spangenberg, 1991), and polyp atrichous polyspiras nematocysts are degraded during strobilation (Spangenberg, 1968). However, as an exception, Schwab (1977b) suggests that the polyp nervous system may be partially retained in ephyrae. Combined, these data suggest that many polyp features are lost during metamorphosis, rather than remodelled or co-opted, but that some morphological features may persist across life-history stages.

However, many unknown questions remain: if it is indeed found that most tissues in developing ephyrae are not remodelled from similar polyp tissue, what is the origin of the cells giving rise to these new medusa-specific tissues? Do polyps have a cryptic population of cells reserved for medusa development, or do polyp cells de-differentiate or trans-differentiate to form medusa tissues? What cell populations become the medusa gonadal tissue and gametes? Is the germ line set aside in polyps, or does it form from previously differentiated tissue?

It is thus essential to investigate whether medusae are remodelled polyps or whether polyps and medusae are developmentally distinct and arise from different embryonic tissue sources. This will provide valuable information for the comparative study of metamorphosis across Scyphozoa, and more broadly across animals.

In addition to questions related to life-cycle evolution, there are also many basic questions about ephyrae development that have not been thoroughly explored. For example, the morphogenesis of medusa structures like gastric pockets and their enigmatic gastric filaments is largely undescribed.

Perhaps some of the most pressing questions in the evolution and development of scyphomedusae are related to strobilation induction. While thyroid hormone-like compounds and 9-cis RA have been implicated in strobilation induction (Spangenberg, 1971, 1974; Fuchs *et al.*, 2014), none of these compounds have been conclusively identified in scyphozoans. Both retinoic acid and thyroid hormone are ligands for an important class of proteins called nuclear hormone receptors. Small signalling molecules and nuclear hormone receptors initiate metamorphosis in

animals ranging from insects to frogs. If nuclear hormone receptors, including RxR, are involved in strobilation, this suggests that the role of these proteins in metamorphosis dates back to the last common ancestor of Cnidaria and Bilateria (Fuchs *et al.*, 2014).

On an ecosystem level, understanding the molecular cues involved in strobilation may help to predict jellyfish blooms. If molecular cues, such as indoles or secreted compounds (such as NIF or CL390-like peptides), are sensed by polyps, these compounds could be used to monitor bloom potential.

Most studies on strobilation induction have been conducted on different lines of one presumptive species (A. aurita) or in Ch. chesapeakei. Expanding our knowledge to a wider range of species, particularly by including coronates, will provide a broader perspective on strobilation induction and scyphomedusa development. There is increasing evidence that A. aurita is actually a species complex with a global distribution (Dawson & Jacobs, 2001), and different polyp populations are known to strobilate in response to different environmental conditions (Olesen & Riisgaard, 1994). The gene and protein variants that might be related to this population-level variation in environmental responsiveness remain unknown. Feeding experiments, where polyps are induced to strobilate by ingesting pieces of ephyra tissue, may provide some insights. As discussed above (Section VII), Fuchs et al. (2014) observed that only polyps fed ephyra fragments from the same population strobilated, suggesting species and/or population-level genetic differences in strobilation induction. Gene expression and sequence variation of candidate genes like CL390 may provide early clues about niche adaptation and strobilation.

Understanding how different marine populations vary in environmental responsiveness goes beyond simply understanding scyphozoan biology. Earth's climate is changing, and populations must respond to these changes. With increasing ship-assisted transport of species around the world, different *Aurelia* spp. have been (Greenberg, Garthwaite & Potts, 1996), and will likely continue to be, introduced to new locations. There is little understanding of how native and introduced scyphozoan populations respond to changing environments.

Identifying conserved molecular components of the strobilation induction pathway is a critical first step in understanding life-cycle evolution in Scyphozoa. Are genes associated with strobilation onset also present in direct developers, and if so, when are they expressed? How does the initiation of ephyra development in obligate direct developers compare with that of facultative direct developers? Answering these questions will provide greater insights not only into the evolution of scyphomedusae, but also into the evolution and development of complex life cycles in general.

The relationship between segmentation and ephyra development is also not well understood. Segmentation can give rise to ephyrae, but also to polyps and planuloids. It is not clear whether the molecular cues associated with strobilation relate specifically to ephyra strobilation or whether they are associated more generally with segmentation.

This issue also relates to the fact that scyphozoans exhibit both convergent development – where distinct developmental starting points give rise to the same developmental outcome (such as the uppermost ephyra disc in polydisc strobilators, and in facultative direct and indirect ephyrae development) – and divergent development – where similar developmental starting points can give rise to different developmental outcomes (such as strobila discs forming either ephyrae or polyps within the same species). These unique features of scyphozoan development provide a unparalleled opportunity to study the interplay of canalization and plasticity in development.

There is still much work to be done on the development and evolution of scyphomedusae. Continuing to investigate the developmental processes that give rise to medusae will provide key insights into the biology, ecology, and evolution of these fascinating organisms.

#### **IX. CONCLUSIONS**

(1) Strobilation is the primary means of ephyra generation. Early signs of ephyra formation include thickening at the base of polyp tentacles in some species, the formation of an elongated body column or 'neck', and development of the first segmentation furrow. In species with polydisc strobilation, the topmost ephyra and subsequent ephyrae develop from different types of polyp tissue.

(2) Polydisc strobilation is likely ancestral, with monodisc strobilation having arisen once in Kolpophorae, and once in *Sanderia malayensis*.

(3) There are at least three, possibly four, examples of independent loss or modification of planula/polyp stages. These all occur in medusae with an open-ocean distribution, suggesting that the loss of a benthic polyp is correlated with an offshore lifestyle. There is also one case of facultative direct development.

(4) In several cases, medusae are highly reduced or possibly lost. All of these occur within the Coronatae lineage, but it is currently unclear if these species form a monophyletic group. In several scyphozoans, strobilae produce polyps (observed in Discomedusae) or planuloids (observed in Coronatae), possibly in response to stress. The loss of a medusa stage in some coronates may be due to particular environmental cues, or to evolutionary canalization of environmentally specific responses.

(5) Multiple ecological cues can trigger strobilation and ephyrae production in a population- or species-specific manner, particularly abiotic factors associated with seasonal changes.

(6) Molecular and cellular processes associated with strobilation and ephyrae production include changes in polyp neuronal anatomy at the onset of strobilation, secretion of unidentified diffusible proteins, and a physiological requirement for elemental iodine. Hydrogen peroxide, thyroid hormone pathway members (including thyroxine, triiodothyronine, diiodotyrosine, monoiodotyrosine and thyroglobulin), indomethacin and other similar indoles, 9-cis retinoic acid, neck-inducing factor, and small fragments of the protein CL390 have all been reported to induce strobilation in some species. The requirement for iodine appears to be evolutionarily conserved, and several different hormones (including thyroid hormone and retinoic acid) have been implicated in strobilation induction. Indoles also induce strobilation in a broad range of Discomedusae, suggesting that the cellular processes involved in strobilation induction are evolutionarily conserved across a diversity of species.

#### X. ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author would like to thank Casey W. Dunn, Elizabeth L. Brainerd, Daniel Weinreich, Gary Wessel, and Ann Tarrant for valuable guidance in preparing this work, and Nagayasu Nakanishi for feedback on several sections relating to rhopalia. Two anonymous reviewers provided feedback and suggestions that greatly improved this manuscript. Support for this work came from the National Science Foundation (NSF) Graduate Research Fellowship under grant number DGE - 1058262, and a Brown University Dissertation Development Grant from the Bushnell Research and Education Fund.

#### XI. REFERENCES

- ADLER, L. & JARMS, G. (2009). New insights into reproductive traits of scyphozoans: special methods of propagation in *Sanderia malayensis* Goette, 1886 (Pelagiidae, Semaeostomeae) enable establishing a new classification of asexual reproduction in the class Scyphozoa. *Marine Biology* **156**, 1411–1420.
- ANDERSON, P. A. V. & SCHWAB, W. E. (1981). The organization and structure of nerve and muscle in the jellyfish. *Journal of Morphology* **170**, 383–399.
- ARAI, M. N. (1997). A Functional Biology of Scyphozoa. Chapman & Hall, London.
- ARAI, M. N. (2009). The potential importance of podocysts to the formation of scyphozoan blooms: a review. *Hydrobiologia* 616, 241–246.
- BAYHA, K. M., DAWSON, M. N., BARBEITOS, M. S., HADDOCK, S. H. D. & COLLINS, A. G. (2010). Evolutionary relationships among scyphozoan jellyfish families based on complete taxon sampling and phylogenetic analyses of 18S and 28S ribosomal DNA. *Integrative and Comparative Biology* 50, 436–455.
- BAYHA, K. M., COLLINS, A. G., & GAFFNEY, P. M. (2017). Multigene phylogeny of the scyphozoan jellyfish family Pelagiidae reveals that the common U.S. Atlantic sea nettle comprises two distinct species (Chrysaora quinquecirrha and C. chesapeakei). *Peeff* 5, e3863 (https://doi.org/10.7717/peerj.3863).
- BERKING, S., CZECH, N., GERHARZ, M., HERRMANN, K., HOFFMANN, U., RAIFER, H., SEKUL, G., SIEFKER, B., SOMMEREI, A. & VEDDER, F. (2005). A newly discovered oxidant defence system and its involvement in the development of *Aurelia aurita* (Scyphozoa, Cnidaria): reactive oxygen species and elemental iodine control medusa formation. *International Journal of Developmental Biology* 49, 969–976.
- BERRILL, N. J. (1949). Developmental analysis of Scyphomedusae. *Biological Reviews* 24, 393–409.
- BIGELOW, R.P. (1892). \*\*\*On the anatomy and development of Cassiopea xamachantha sp. n. Baltimore.
- BLACK, R. E. & WEBB, K. L. (1973). Metabolism of 1311 in relation to strobilation of Chrysaora quinquecirrha (Scyphozoa). Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology A 45, 1023-1029.
- BREKHMAN, V., MALIK, A., HASS, B., SHER, N. & LOTAN, T. (2015). Transcriptome profiling of the dynamic life cycle of the scypohozoan jellyfish *Aurelia aurita*. BMC Genomics 16, 1–14.
- BYNUM, M. A. & BLACK, R. E. (1974). Ultrastructure of the mesoglea in strobilae of *Chrysaora quinquecirrha* (Scyphozoa). *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 187, 323–333.

- CALDER, D. R. (1973). Laboratory observations on the life history of *Rhopilema verilli* (Scyphozoa: Rhizostomcae). *Marine Biology* 21, 109–114.
- CALDER, D. R. (1974). Strobilation of the sea nettle, *Chrysaora quinqueeirrha*, under field conditions. *Biological Bulletin* 146, 326–334.
- CALDER, D. R. (1982). Life history of the cannonball jellyfish, Stomolophus meleagris L. Agassiz, 1860 (Scyphozoa, Rhizostomida). Biological Bulletin 162, 149–162.
- CARGO, D. G. & RABENOLD, G. E. (1980). Observations on the asexual reproductive activities of the sessile stages of the sea nettle *Chrysaora quinquecirrha* (Scyphozoa). *Estuaries* 3, 20–27.
- CARGO, D. G. & SCHULTZ, L. P. (1967). Further observations on the biology of the sea nettle and jellyfishes in Chesapeake Bay. *Chesapeake Science* 8, 209–220.
- CHAPMAN, D.M. (1966). Evolution of the scyphistoma. In: The Cnidaria and Their Evolution (W. J. REES, ed.), pp. 51–75. Academic Press, London.
- CHAPMAN, D. M. & JAMES, R. (1973). Intraepithelial flagella in the medusae of Aurelia aurita. Publications of the Seto Marine Biological Laboratory 20, 731–743.
- CHAPMAN, D. M. & WERNER, B. (1972). Structure of a solitary and a colonial species of *Stephanoscyphus* (Scyphozoa, Coronatae) with observations on periderm repair. *Helgoland Marine Research* 23, 393–421.
- CHIA, F. S., AMERONGEN, H. M. & PETEYA, D. J. (1984). Ultrastructure of the neuromuscular system of the polyp of *Aurelia aurita* L., 1758 (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). *Journal of Morphology* 180, 69–79.
- CHUIN, T. T. (1930). Le Cycle évolutif du scyphistome de chrysaora (étude histophysiologique). Les Presses Universitaires, Paris.
- COLLINS, A., SCHUCHERT, P., MARQUES, A., JANKOWSKI, T., MEDINA, M. & SCHIERWATER, B. (2006). Medusozoan phylogeny and character evolution clarified by new large and small subunit rDNA data and an assessment of the utility of phylogenetic mixture models. *Systematic Biology* 55, 97–115.
- COLLINS, A. G. (2002). Phylogeny of Medusozoa and the evolution of cnidarian life cycles. *Journal of Evolutionary Biology* 15, 418–432.
- CRAWFORD, M. A. & WEBB, K. L. (1972). An ultrastructural study of strobilation in *Chrysaora quinquecirrha* with special reference to neurosecretion. *Journal of Experimental Zoology* 182, 251–269.
- DALY, M., BRUGLER, M. R., CARTWRIGHT, P. & COLLINS, A. G. (2007). The phylum Cnidaria: a review of phylogenetic patterns and diversity 300 years after Linnaeus. *ZootaxaZootaxa* 1668, 127–182.
- DAWSON, M. N. & HAMNER, W. M. (2009). A character-based analysis of the evolution of jellyfish blooms: adaptation and exaptation. *Hydrobiologia* 616, 193–215.
- DAWSON, M. N. & JACOBS, D. K. (2001). Molecular evidence for cryptic species of Aurelia aurita (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). The Biological Bulletin 200, 92–96.
- DEN HARTOG, J. C. & VAN NIEROP, M. M. (1984). A study on the gut contents of six leathery turtles *Dermochelys coriacea* (Linnaeus) (Reptilia: Testudines: Dermochelyidae) from British waters and from the Netherlands. *Zoologische Verhandelingen* 209, 3–36.
- DONG, J., JIANG, L.-X., TAN, K.-F., LIU, H.-Y., PURCELL, J. E., LI, P.-J. & YE, C.-C. (2008). Stock enhancement of the edible jellyfish (*Rhopilema esculentum* Kishinouye) in Liaodong Bay, China: a review. *Hydrobiologia* 616, 113–118.
- DONG, J., SUN, M., WANG, B. & LIU, H. (2008). Comparison of life cycles and morphology of *Cyanea nozakii* and other scyphozoans. *Plankton Benthos Research* 3, 118–124.
- DOYLE, T. K., HAYS, G. C., HARROD, C. & HOUGHTON, J. D. R. (2013). Ecological and societal benefits of jellyfish. In *Jellyfish Blooms* (eds K. PITT and C. LUCAS), pp. 105–126. Springer Netherlands, Germany.
- EGGERS, N. & JARMS, G. (2007). The morphogenesis of ephyra in Coronatae (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). *Marine Biology* 152, 495–502.
- ESCHSCHOLTZ, J. F. (1829). System der Acalephen: eine aus führliche Beschreibung aller medusenartigen Strahlthiere. F. Dummler, Berlin.
- FEITL, K. E., MILLETT, A. F., COLIN, S. P. & DABIRI, J. O. (2009). Functional morphology and fluid interactions during early development of the scyphomedusa *Aurelia aurita*. *The Biological Bulletin* **217**, 283–291.
- FUCHS, B., WANG, W., GRASPEUNTNER, S., LI, Y., INSUA, S., HERBST, E.-M., DIRKSEN, P., BÖHM, A.-M., HEMMRICH, G., SOMMER, F., DOMAZET-LOŠO, T., KLOSTERMEIER, U. C., ANTON-ERXLEBEN, F., ROSENSTIEL, P., BOSCH, T. C. G. & KHALTURIN, K. (2014). Regulation of polyp-to-jellyfish transition in *Aurelia aurita*. *Current Biology* 24, 263–273.
- FUENTES, V., STRAEHLER-POHL, I., ATIENZA, D., FRANCO, I., TILVES, U., GENTILE, M., ACEVEDO, M., OLARIAGA, A. & GILI, J.-M. (2011). Life cycle of the jellyfish *Rhizostoma pulmo* (Scyphozoa: Rhizostomeae) and its distribution, seasonality and inter-annual variability along the Catalan coast and the Mar Menor (Spain, NW Mediterranean). *Marine Biology* 158, 2247–2266.
- GIBBONS, M. J., BUECHER, E., THIBAULT-BOTHA, D. & Helm, R. R. (2009). Patterns in marine hydrozoan richness and biogeography around southern Africa: implications of life cycle strategy. *Journal of Biogeography* **37**, 606–616.
- GOETTE, A. (1893). Vergleichende entwicklungsgeschichte von Pelagia noctiluca Pér. Zeitschrift für Wissenschaftliche Zoologie 55, 644–695.

- GOLD, D. A. & JACOBS, D. K. (2012). Stem cell dynamics in Cnidaria: are there unifying principles? *Development Genes and Evolution* 223, 53–66.
- GOLD, D. A., NAKANISHI, N., HENSLEY, N. M., COZZOLINO, K., TABATABAEE, M., MARTIN, M., HARTENSTEIN, V. & JACOBS, D. K. (2015). Structural and developmental disparity in the tentacles of the moon jellyfish *Aurelia* sp.1. *PLoS ONE* 10, e0134741.
- GOLD, D. A., NAKANISHI, N., HENSLEY, N. M., HARTENSTEIN, V. & JACOBS, D. K. (2016). Cell tracking supports secondary gastrulation in the moon jellyfish Aurelia. Development Genes and Evolution 226, 383–387.
- GREENBERG, N., GARTHWAITE, R. L. & POTTS, D. C. (1996). Allozyme and morphological evidence for a newly introduced species of *Aurelia*. *Marine Biology* 125, 401–410.
- GRÖNDAHL, F. (1988). A comparative ecological study on the scyphozoans Aurelia aurita, Cyanea capillata and C. lamarchii in the Gullmar Fjord, western Sweden, 1982 to 1986. Marine Biology 97, 541–550.
- GRÖNDAHL, F. & HERNROTH, L. (1987). Release and growth of Cyanea capillata (L.) ephyrae in the Gullmar Fjord, western Sweden. Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 106, 91–101.
- HAECKEL, E. H. P. A. (1881). Metagenesis und Hypogenesis von Aurelia aurita. G. Fischer, Jena.
- HELM, R.R. & DUNN, C.W. (2017). Indoles induce metamorphosis in a broad diversity of jellyfish, but not in a crown jelly (Coronatae). *PLOS ONE* 12(12), e0188601. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0188601
- HELM, R. R., TIOZZO, S., LILLEY, M. K. S., LOMBARD, F. & DUNN, C. W. (2015). Comparative muscle development of scyphozoan jellyfish with simple and complex life cycles. *EvoDevo* 6(11), 1–9.
- HOFMANN, D. K. & KREMER, B. P. (1981). Carbon metabolism and strobilation in *Cassiopea andromedea* (Cnidaria: Scyphozoa): significance of endosymbiotic dinoflagellates. *Marine Biology* 65, 25–33.
- HOFMANN, D. K., NEUMANN, R. & HENNE, K. (1978). Strobilation, budding and initiation of scyphistoma morphogenesis in the rhizostome *Cassiopea andromeda* (Cnidaria: Scyphozoa). *Marine Biology* 47, 161–176.
- HOLST, S., SÖTJE, I., TIEMANN, H. & JARMS, G. (2007). Life cycle of the rhizostome jellyfish *Rhizostoma octopus* (L.) (Scyphozoa, Rhizostomeae), with studies on cnidocysts and statoliths. *Marine Biology* 151, 1695–1710.
- HORRIDGE, A. (1956). The nervous system of the ephyra larva of Aurelia aurita. Journal of Cell Science s3-97, 59–74.
- HYMAN, L. H. (1940). The Invertebrates: Protozoa Through Ctenophora. McGraw-Hill Book Company, New York.
- JARMS, G., BAMSTEDT, U., TIEMANN, H., MARTINUSSEN, M. B. & FOSSA, J. H. (1999). The holopelagic life cycle of the deep-sea medusa *Periphylla periphylla* (Scyphozoa, Coronatae). *Sarsia* 84, 55–65.
- JARMS, G., MORANDINI, A. X. & DA SILVEIRA, F. X. B. (2002). Cultivation of polyps and medusae of Coronatae (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa) with a brief review of important characters. *Helgoland Marine Research* 56, 203–210.
- JARMS, G., TIEMANN, H. & BÅMSTEDT, U. (2002). Development and biology of Periphylla periphylla (Scyphozoa: Coronatae) in a Norwegian fjord. Marine Biology 141, 647–657.
- KAKINUMA, Y. (1975). An experimental study of the life cycle and organ differentiation of Aurelia aurita Lamarck. Bulletin of the Marine Biological Station of Asamushi 15, 101–116.
- KAWAHARA, M., UYE, S.-I., OHTSU, K. & IIZUMI, H. (2006). Unusual population explosion of the giant jellyfish *Nemopilema nomurai* (Scyphozoa: Rhizostomeae) in East Asian waters. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 307, 161–173.
- KAYAL, E., ROURE, B. A., PHILIPPE, H., COLLINS, A. G. & LAVROV, D. V. (2013). Cnidarian phylogenetic relationships as revealed by mitogenomics. *BMC Evolutionary Biology* 13, 1–1.
- KRAMP, P. L. (1961). Synopsis of the medusae of the world. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 40, 469.
- KROIHER, M., SIEFKER, B. & BERKING, S. (2000). Induction of segmentation in polyps of Aurelia aurita (Scyphozoa, Cnidaria) into medusae and formation of mirror-image medusa anlagen. International Journal of Developmental Biology 44, 485–490.
- KUNIYOSHI, H., OKUMURA, I., KURODA, R., TSUJITA, N., ARAKAWA, K., SHOJI, J., SAITO, T. & OSADA, H. (2012). Indomethacin induction of metamorphosis from the asexual stage to sexual stage in the moon jellyfish, *Aurelia aurita. Bioscience* 76, 1397–1400.
- LOEB, M. J. (1974a). Strobilation in the Chesapeake Bay sea nettle, Chrysaora quinquecirrha—II. Partial characterization of the neck-inducing factor from strobilating polyps. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 47A, 291–201.
- LOEB, M. J. (1974b). Strobilation in the Chesapeake Bay sea nettle Chrysaora quinquecirrha—III. Dissociation of the neck-inducing factor from strobilating polyps. Comparative Biochemistry and Physiology 49A, 423–432.
- LOEB, M. J. & HAYES, D. K. (1981). Strobilation in the Chesapeake Bay sea nettle, Chrysaora quinqueeirrha. V. Neurons and neurosecretion. Transactions of the American Microscopical Society 100, 264.
- LUCAS, C. H., GRAHAM, W. M. & WIDMER, C. (2012). Jellyfish life histories: role of polyps in forming and maintaining scyphomedusa populations. *Advances in Marine Biology* 63, 133–196.

Biological Reviews 93 (2013) 1228-1250 © 2018 The Authors. Biological Reviews published by John Wiley & Sons Ltd on behalf of Cambridge Philosophical Society.

- LYNAM, C. P., GIBBONS, M. J., AXELSEN, B. E., SPARKS, C. A. J., COETZEE, J., HEYWOOD, B. G. & BRIERLEY, A. S. (2006). Jellyfish overtake fish in a heavily fished ecosystem. *Current Biology* 16, R492–R493.
- MARQUES, A. C. & COLLINS, A. G. (2004). Cladistic analysis of Mcdusozoa and cnidarian evolution. *Invertebrate Biology* 123, 23–42.
- MAYER, A. G. (1910). Medusae of the World: The Scyphomedusae. Carnegie Institution of Washington, Washington.
- MAYOROVA, T. D., KOSEVICH, I. A. & MELEKHOVA, O. P. (2012). On some features of embryonic development and metamorphosis of *Aurelia aurita* (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). *Russian Journal of Developmental Biology* 43, 271–285.
- METCHNIKOFF, E. (1886). Embryologische Studien an Medusen. A. Hölder, Vienna.
- MILISENDA, G., ROSA, S., FUENTES, V. L., BOERO, F., GUGLIELMO, L., PURCELL, J. E. & PIRAINO, S. (2014). Jellyfish as prey: frequency of predation and selective foraging of *Boops boops* (Vertebrata, Actinopterygii) on the mauve stinger *Pelagia noctiluca* (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). *PLoS ONE* 9, e94600.
- MILLS, C. E. (2001). Jellyfish blooms: are populations increasing globally in response to changing ocean conditions? *Hydrobiologia* 451, 55–68.
- MORAN, N. A. (1994). Adaptation and constraint in the complex life cycles of animals. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 25, 573–600.
- MORANDINI, A. C. & DA SILVEIRA, F. L. (2001). Sexual reproduction of *Nausithee aurea* (Scyphozoa, Coronatae). Gametogenesis, egg release, embryonic development, and gastrulation. *Scientia Marina* 65, 139–149.
- MORANDINI, A. C., DA SILVEIRA, F. L. & JARMS, G. (2004). The life cycle of *Chrysaora lactea* Eschscholtz, 1829 (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa) with notes on the scyphistoma stage of three other species. *Hydrobiologia* 530/531, 347–354.
- MORANDINI, A. C. & MARQUES, A. C. (2010). Revision of the genus Chrysaora Péron and Lesueur, 1810 (Cnidaria: Scyphozoa). Zootaxa 2464, 1–97.
- NAKANISHI, N., HARTENSTEIN, V. & JACOBS, D. K. (2009). Development of the rhopalial nervous system in *Aurelia* sp.1 (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). *Development Genes and Evolution* 219, 301–317.
- NAKANISHI, N., YUAN, D., JACOBS, D. K. & HARTENSTEIN, V. (2008). Early development, pattern, and reorganization of the planula nervous system in Aurelia (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). Development Genes and Evolution 218, 511–524.
- OLESEN, N.J. & RIISGAARD, H. U. (1994). Population dynamic, growth and energetics of jcllyfish, *Aurelia aurita*, in a shallow fjord. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **105**, 9–18.
- OLMON, J. E. & WEBB, K. L. (1974). Metabolism of 131 I in relation to strobilation of Aurelia aurita L.(Scyphozoa). Journal of Experimental Marine Biology and Ecology 16, 113–122.
- PASPALEV, G. V. (1938). Über die entwicklung von Rhizostoma pulmo. Agass. Arbeiten aus der Biologischen Meeresstation am Schwarzen Meer in Varna 7, 1–17.
- PITT, K. A. (2000). Life history and settlement preferences of the edible jellyfish Catostylus mosaicus (Scyphozoa: Rhizostomeae). Marine Biology 136, 269–279.
- POPE, E. C., HAYS, G. C., THYS, T. M., DOYLE, T. K., SIMS, D. W., QUEIROZ, N., HOBSON, V. J., KUBICEK, L. & HOUGHTON, J. D. R. (2010). The biology and ecology of the ocean sunfish *Mola mola*: a review of current knowledge and future research perspectives. *Reviews in Fish Biology and Fisheries* 20, 471–487.
- PUERTAS, L. S., NOVOA, K. O. & LA COTERA, DE, E.H. (2008). Further observations on the strobilation of the coronate scyphozoan *Linuche unguiculata* (thimble jellyfish). *Hidrobiológica* 18, 49–52.
- PURCELL, J. E., HOOVER, R. A. & SCHWARCK, N. T. (2009). Interannual variation of strobilation by the scyphozoan *Aurelia labiata* in relation to polyp density, temperature, salinity, and light conditions in situ. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* 375, 139–149.
- PURCELL, J. E., UYE, S.-I. & LO, W. T. (2007). Anthropogenic causes of jellyfish blooms and their direct consequences for humans: a review. *Marine Ecology Progress* Series 350, 153–174.
- PURCELL, J. E., WHITE, J. R., NEMAZIE, D. A. & WRIGHT, D. A. (1999). Temperature, salinity and food effects on asexual reproduction and abundance of the scyphozoan *Chrysaora quinquecirrha*. *Marine Ecology Progress Series* **180**, 187–196.
- ROMANES, G. J. (1876). Further observations on the locomotor system of medusae. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 167, 659–752.
- ROUSE, G. W. & PITT, K. (2000). Ultrastructure of the sperm of Catostylus mosaicus and Phyllorhiza punctata (Scyphozoa, Cnidaria): Implications for sperm terminology and the inference of reproductive mechanisms. *Invertebrate Reproduction & Development* 38(1), 23–34, (https://doi.org/10.1080/07924259.2000.9652433).
- RUSSELL, F. S. (1967). On a remarkable new scyphomedusan. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the UK 47, 469–473.
- RUSSELL, F. S. (1970). The Medusae of the British Isles: Pelagic Scyphozoa with A Supplement to the First Volume on Hydromedusae. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- RUSSELL, F. S. & REES, W. J. (1960). The viviparous scyphomedusa Stygiomedusa fabulosa Russell. Journal of the Marine Biological Association of the United Kingdom 39, 303–318.

- SARS, M. (1829). Bidrag til Söcdyrenes naturhistorie. In Med Sex Illuminerede Steentryktavler, Eighth Edition (), pp. 1–63. Chr. Dahl's bogtrykkeri: Bergen.
- SARS, M. (1835). Beskrivelser og iagttagelser over nogle mærkelige eller nye i havet ved den bergenske kyst levende dyr af polypernes, acalephernes, radiaternes, annelidernes, og molluskernes classer, med en kort oversigt over de hidtil af forfatteren sammesteds fundne arter og deres forekommen. Thorstein Hallager, Bergen.
- SATTERLIE, R. A. & EICHINGER, J. M. (2014). Organization of the ectodermal nervous structures in jellyfish: scyphomedusae. *The Biological Bulletin* 226, 29–40.
- SCHAFER, E. A. (1878). Observations on the nervous system of Aurelia aurita. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 169, 563–575.
- SCHIARITI, A., KAWAHARA, M., UYE, S.-I. & MIANZAN, H. W. (2008). Life cycle of the jellyfish Lychnorhiza lucerna (Scyphozoa: Rhizostomeae). Marine Biology 156, 1–12.
- SCHWAB, W. E. (1977a). The ontogeny of swimming behavior in the scyphozoan, Aurelia aurita. I. Electrophysiological analysis. The Biological Bulletin 152, 233-250.
- SCHWAB, W. E. (1977b). The ontogeny of swimming behavior in the scyphozoan, Aurelia aurita. II. The effects of ions and drugs. The Biological Bulletin 152, 251-262.
- SILVEIRA, F. L., MORANDINI, A. C. & JARMS, G. (2003). Experiments in nature and laboratory observations with *Nausithoe aurea* (Scyphozoa: Coronatae) support the concept of perennation by tissue saving and confirm dormancy. *Biota Neotropica* 2, 1–25.
- SILVEIRA, F. L. D. & MORANDINI, A. C. (1998). Asexual reproduction in *Linuche unguiculata* (Swartz, 1788)(Scyphozoa: Coronatae) by planuloid formation through strobilation and segmentation. *Proceedings in the Biological Society of Washington* 111, 781–794.
- Sötje, I. & JARMS, G. (2009). Derivation of the reduced life cycle of *Thecoscyphus zibrowii* Werner, 1984 (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa). *Marine Biology* 156, 2331–2341.
- SPANGENBERG, D. B. (1967). Iodine induction of metamorphosis in Aurelia. Journal of Experimental Zoology 165, 441–450.
- SPANGENBERG, D. B. (1968). Recent studies of strobilation in jellyfish. Oceanography and Marine Biology: Annual Review 6, 231–247.
- SPANGENBERG, D. B. (1971). Thyroxine induced metamorphosis in Aurelia. Journal of Experimental Zoology 178, 183–194.
- SPANGENBERG, D. B. (1974). Thyroxine in early strobilation in Aurelia aurita. American Zoologist 14, 825–831.
- SPANGENBERG, D. B. (1991). Rhopalium development in Aurelia aurita ephyrae. Hydrobiologia 216/217, 45–49.
- STAMPAR, S. N., SILVEIRA, F. L. D. & MORANDINI, A. C. (2007). Asexual reproduction of *Nausithoe aurea* (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa, Coronatae) induced by sterile polystyrene dishes. *Brazilian Journal of Oceanography* 55, 1–3.
- STRAEHLER-POHL, I. & JARMS, G. (2010). Identification key for young ephyrae: a first step for early detection of jellyfish blooms. *Hydrobiologia* 645, 3–21.
- STRAEHLER-POHL, I., WIDMER, C. L. & MORANDINI, A. C. (2011). Characterizations of juvenile stages of some semacostome Scyphozoa (Cnidaria), with recognition of a new family (Phacellophoridae). *Zootaxa* 2741, 1–37.
- SUGIURA, Y. (1964). On the life-history of Rhizostome medusae. *Embryologia* 8, 223–233.
- SUGIURA, Y. (1966). On the life-history of Rhizostome medusae IV. Cephea cephea. Embryologia 9, 105-122.
- TERUFUMI, Y. & YOSHIDA, M. (1973). Electron microscopy on the photoreceptors of an anthomedusa and a scyphomedusa. *Publications of the Seto Marine Biological Laboratory* 20, 757–778.
- THIEL, H. (1966). The evolution of the Scyphozoa, a review. In *Cnidaria and Their Evolution* (ed. W. J. REES), pp. 77–117. Academic Press, London.
- UCHIDA, T. & SUGIURA, Y. (1978). On the polyp of the scyphomedusa, Sanderia malayensis and its reproduction. Journal of the Faculty of Science Hokkaido University Series VI. Zoology 21, 279–286.
- UYE, S.-I. (2008). Blooms of the giant jellyfish Nemopilema nomurai: a threat to the fisheries sustainability of the east Asian marginal seas. Plankton Benthos Research 3, 125-131.
- VAGELLI, A. (2007). New observations on the asexual reproduction of Aurelia aurita (Cnidaria, Scyphozoa) with comments on its life cycle and adaptive significance. Invertebrate. Zoology 4, 111–127.
- WERNER, B. (1970). Contribution to the evolution in the genus Stephanoscyphus (Scyphozoa Coronatae) and ecology and regeneration qualities of Stephanoscyphus racemosus Komai. Publications of the Seto Marine Biological. The Laboratory 18, 1–20.
- WERNER, B. (1973). New investigations on systematics and evolution of the class Scyphozoa and the phylum Cnidaria. *Publications of the Seto Marine Biological Laboratory* 20, 35–61.
- WERNER, B. (1974). Stephanoscyphus eumedusoides n. spec. (Scyphozoa, Coronatae), ein hohlenpolyp mit einem neuen entwicklungsmodus. Helgolander wissenschaftliche Meeresuntersuchungen 26, 434–463.

- WERNER, B. & HENTSCHEL, J. (1983). Apogamous life cycle of Stephanoscyphus planulophorus. Marine Biology 74, 301–304.
- WIDMER, C. L. (2006). Life cycle of Phacellophora camtschatica (Cnidaria: Scyphozoa). Invertebrate Biology 125, 83–90.
- WIDMER, C. L. (2008). Life cycle of Chrysaora fuscescens (Cnidaria: Scyphozoa) and a key to sympatric ephyrae 1. Pacific Science 62, 71–82.
- YAMAMORI, L., OKUIZUMI, K., SATO, C., IKEDA, S. & TOYOHARA, H. (2017). Comparison of the inducing effect of indole compounds on medusa formation in different classes of Medusozoa. *Zoological Science* 34, 173–178.
- YUAN, D., NAKANISHI, N., JACOBS, D. & HARTENSTEIN, V. (2008). Embryonic development and metamorphosis of the scyphozoan Aurelia. Development Genes and Evolution 218, 525–539.
- ZAPATA, F., GOETZ, F. E., SMITH, S. A., HOWISON, M., SIEBERT, S., CHURCH, S., SANDERS, S. M., AMES, C. L., MCFADDEN, C. S., FRANCE, S. C., DALY, M., COLLINS, A. G., HADDOCK, S. H., DUNN, C. & CARTWRIGHT, P. (2015). Phylogenomic analyses support traditional relationships within Chidaria. *PLOS ONE* **10**(10), e0139068. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0139068

(Received 26 August 2016; revised 8 December 2017; accepted 18 December 2017; published online 14 February 2018)